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EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
MNP LLP (“MNP”) was engaged by Primrose Lake Economic Development Corporation (“PLEDCO”) in April
2017 to conduct an evaluation of the organization, its activities and projects for the years 2012/13 –
2016/17. MNP prepared this five-year program evaluation report synthesizing analyses and findings, and
reporting on the inputs, activities, outputs and outcomes of PLEDCO’s current initiatives. For each of the
recommendations within this report, we have described the rationale for the recommendation, the benefits
that can be achieved by implementing the recommendation and implementation considerations and
suggestions.
Overview
PLEDCO was formed in response to the establishment of the Primrose Lake Air Weapons Range established
in northwest Saskatchewan in 1953. The establishment of the Weapons Range caused the Northern
Municipalities of Beauval, Cole Bay, Jans Bay and Île-à-la-Crosse to lose access to land that comprised the
range. To compensate for this loss, the Canada-Primrose Lake Economic Development Agreement and the
Saskatchewan-Primrose Lake Community Economic Development Agreement were established in 2007.
PLEDCO is responsible for managing the funds granted by the Governments of Canada and Saskatchewan
through the agreements for the long-term benefits of the communities. PLEDCO’s mandate includes ensuring
funds are preserved and used wisely for economic development. The organization receives the annual
income generated by the trust funds; therefore, the amount of income received varies with financial market
performance.
Operations
PLEDCO uses the annual income generated from the trust funds for contributions to economic development
and infrastructure projects, scholarships and costs of operating such as board meetings, travel, employee
salaries and office expenses. The organization operates from a main office in Beauval and staff consist of one
part-time Administrative Assistant and one full time Executive Director.
Throughout the review period, PLEDCO has experienced turnover in the Executive Director position but has
consistently attracted individuals for the position that are committed to the communities and the
organization.
MNP identified the following recommendations related to the operations of PLEDCO.
1. When PLEDCO issues a cheque related to an approved project or client the date and motion number
should be included in the information provided to the Board, it should also be linked to an annual
summary (based on fiscal year) showing the opening balances of the funds, funds committed, funds
disbursed and remaining balances. PLEDCO indicated that a project commitment excel spreadsheet is
provided to the Board at each meeting but is not included in the board package. To cut down on
paper waste, this information is provided verbally to the Board via PowerPoint during the Executive
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2.

3.
4.

5.

Director’s report. It is recommended that PLEDCO include a copy of this information in the meeting
minute files as this is not currently recorded.
Develop and document a standardized procedure for managing files – paper and electronic. For
projects that are funded studies, ensure a copy of the final report, i.e. business plan, is included in
the file.
Ensure the applicant log is maintained and all communications are reordered, ensure copies filed as
per a standardized filing system.
Ensure electronic files are backed up and stored off site in a consistent and secure manner – for
example a cloud based system. This should include scanned copies of paper client files, financial
records and other data retained by PLEDCO.
Develop a system for tracking outcomes from PLEDCO funding – additional funds leveraged, jobs
created etc. This also provides a strong link for continued support by PLEDCO to clients.

Governance
The membership of the Corporation consists of the elected members of Council for each of the Primrose
Lake communities. The Board consists of eight voting Directors, two each appointed by the four
communities. The Governments of Canada and Saskatchewan appoint ex-officio Board members who
contribute to discussion but do not vote.
MNP identified the following recommendations related to the Governance of PLEDCO.
1. Ensure the board package includes a summary of the fiscal year opening balances for the funds,
amounts committed, amounts disbursed and balances remaining. There was mixed feedback as to
the level of communication – some Board Members felt that they receive this information, others did
not. As this information was not included in Board minutes or other documentation it was not
possible for the evaluation team to validate the level of communication and information provided.
2. Establish requirement for periodic reviews of the trust fund to ensure highest returns are being
achieved as well as to understand the fees charged to PLEDCO for the management of the trust.
3. Incorporate learning opportunities into board retreats and strategic planning sessions – financial
literacy, governance roles and responsibilities etc.
4. Review options for less board meetings to reduce the annual board expenditures. It is important to
note that a decision has been made by the Board to decrease the regular meeting schedule from 12
each year to 10 to reduce expenses. The Board also decided to decrease the number of out of town
meetings to from two to one to increase savings in board expenses. Both decisions have been made
outside of the review period therefore were not observed by MNP.
5. Develop a skills matrix for the board to use as a board recruitment tool and to understand and
identify skill gaps amongst current members.
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PLEDCO Programs
PLEDCO operates Economic Development Assistance Programs and a Scholarship Program. The organization
also administers the Primary Producer Incentive Program (PPIP) and the Business Incentive Program (BIP) in
partnership with Beaver River Community Futures Development Corporation.
Economic Assistance Program
The Economic Development Assistance program provides opportunities for entrepreneurs, community
development corporations and municipalities in the PLEDCO region to earn financial assistance for projects.
Under this program, PLEDCO provides entrepreneurs with up to 50% of project costs to a maximum
contribution of $10,000. Community Development Corporations and Municipalities work with PLEDCO to
discuss development and strategic plans to gain a contribution of up to $50,000 per project. Regional
initiatives are weighted and joint submissions may be discussed by the Board.
MNP identified the following recommendations related to the Economic Assistance Program.
1. Standardize reporting, filing and data management processes to improve consistent tracking in the
event of employee turnover.
2. Increase follow-up activities with clients receiving the PLEDCO grants and funding to gain insight on
the program. Tracking of client outcomes to fully understand the impact the funds have had – items
to track could include additional funding leveraged, number of employees hired.
Business Incentive Program (BIP) and Primary Producer Incentive Program (PPIP)
The BIP and PPIP are both conducted in partnership with BRCF. Through the BIP program, entrepreneurs in
PLEDCO communities have access to a small loan from BRCF up to $35,000 and are eligible for PLEDCO’s nonrepayable grant portion, provided the borrower paid their portion of the loan first. The PPIP program
provides primary producers in the industries of commercial fishing, trapping and wild rice harvesting access
to loans up to $10,000 from BRCF including a non-repayable contribution from PLEDCO.
MNP identified the following recommendations related to the BIP and PPIP Program.
1. Work with BRCF to receive monthly reporting on number of inquiries, approvals and outcomes of BIP
funding.
2. Work with BRCF to receive copies of project deliverables and client files.
3. Ensure regular reporting (via a standardised written format) is provided to the Executive Director by
BRCF and included in the Board meeting minutes. This should include current applications (to be
approved), approved applications and amounts committed and remaining program balances. There
was mixed feedback as to the level of communication – some Board Members felt that they receive
this information, others did not. As this information was not included in Board minutes or other
documentation it was not possible for the evaluation team to validate the level of communication
and information provided.
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Scholarship Program
PLEDCO offers a scholarship program annually to graduating grade 12 students from the four communities.
The scholarships are provided to students pursuing post-secondary education and previous graduates
attending a post-secondary program.
MNP identified the following recommendations related to the Scholarship Program.
1. Documentation of outcomes – number of post secondary graduates who obtained scholarships, case
studies of how this scholarship impacted students post secondary education opportunities.
2. Greater documentation of what the impact of this funding was to the students would confirm the
value of the investment.
3. Connect with students who have obtained scholarships in the past to be champions of the program
and discuss with other students how the scholarship impacted their education path. It is important
to note that although outside of the review period, PLEDCO has committed to highlighting successful
applicants through a poster campaign to be rolled out in the fall of 2017.
Financial Results
PLEDCO is the manager of a trust fund granted by the Governments of Canada and Saskatchewan for the
long-term benefit of the four communities. A total of $19.5 million, including $4.5 million from the Province
of Saskatchewan and $15 million from the Government of Canada, was provided. Of this amount, $17.5
million is held in trust by an independent, professional money management firm.
Annual audits are completed and each year of the evaluation the audit opinion states that the financial
statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of PLEDCO and the results of its
operations, changes in fund balances and its cash flows for the years ended in accordance with Canadian
accounting standards for no-for-profit organizations.
MNP identified the following recommendations related to PLEDCO’s financial information.
1. Obtain a secure system for back up of financial information for the organization.
2. Prepare budgets and compare regularly to financial statements (quarterly or monthly dependent on
frequency of board meetings and change in information).
Overarching Observations
In addition to reviewing the administration and operation of the specific programs offered by PLEDCO, MNP
examined how well PLEDCO is preforming and meeting its mandate. The following key overarching
observations were identified.
Collaboration
PLEDCO has demonstrated the willingness to work collaboratively with community members. The Board
meets regularly and members provide information to their representative community. Additionally, the
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Executive Director travels to PLEDCO communities to remain visible and connected to the needs of each
community. PLEDCO community members are also invited to the annual general meeting to discuss the
activities of the organization and its strategic goals. Residents are encouraged to provide their opinions and
feedback during the meeting. Some stakeholders interviewed indicated that the Executive Director could
spend additional time in the smaller communities (i.e. Jans Bay and Cole Bay) as they perceive that the larger
communities receive majority of PLEDCO’s attention.
PLEDCO actively collaborates with Beaver River Community Futures (“BRFC”) to offer the PPIP and the BIP.
The organization has also reached out to other aboriginal financial institutions to further expand
collaboration opportunities. Actively pursuing collaborations with funding agencies could provide PLEDCO
with increased opportunities to further its collaboration mandate.
Relevance
Stakeholders communicated to MNP that the funding agreements accurately represent the needs of the
community provided that the agreements are read and understood by Board and staff. PLEDCO has also
made the decision to create a strategic plan each year to maximize the organizations focus and efforts in
making an impact in the region. This aids PLEDCO in ensuring that its mandate reflects the current needs of
the region.
Cost Effectiveness
To maintain cost effectiveness, PLEDCO operates with a minimal amount of staff and collaborates with BRCF
to administer programs and evaluate applicants. Stakeholders reported that PLEDCO has been impactful with
the amount of funds at its disposal and has been proactive in determining the feasibility of projects prior to
investing.
Board expenses do represent a significant portion of annual expenditures and it is recommended that these
expenditures be reduced. It is important to note that although outside of the review period, the PLEDCO
Board has decided to reduce the meeting schedule from 12 meetings each year to 10 which will aid in
decreasing expenses.
Alternative and Agreement Design Issues
Once a new member has been appointed to the PLEDCO Board a criminal record check is conducted and they
are provided with a policies and procedures manual that outlines expectations regarding due diligence.
Stakeholder interviews indicated that the Board is satisfied with the level of reporting provided at each
general and annual meeting. During the review process MNP recommended that PLEDCO ensures that a
correct motion number is associated with the correct funding disbursements and that each motion number is
recorded.
When an applicant applies for a PLEDCO grant a client folder is created and a file checklist is used to
determine eligibility. The Board utilizes this checklist to aid them in identifying potential applicants. It has
been identified that turnover in the Executive Director role has resulted in varying processes for monitoring
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and maintaining client files creating inefficiencies. Additionally, client files managed by BRCF are not tracked
by PLEDCO which creates difficulties in determining if clients approved by BRCF meet PLEDCO’s mandate.
Scotia Trust Company is the corporate trustee for the PLEDCO trust funds and Scotia Wealth Management
are the investment managers. It is recommended that PLEDCO ensure that they are exercising due diligence
to ensure they are receiving the best rates from the corporates trustee’s. Additionally, it is recommended
that PLEDCO consult with a third party to review whether the investment managers are achieving industry
benchmarks based on the investment policy they have established. PLEDCO may want to consider consulting
with an independent third party to determine if the investment policy current established still meets their
objectives due to significant changes in the investment markets over the past five to ten years.
Performance
It is recommended that PLEDCO pursue additional follow up with clients to track key metrics and funding
results to adequately understand how the trust funds are performing. Qualitative information from
stakeholder interviews and data reviews does indicate that PLEDCO is realizing its mandate but additional
follow up is required. It is important to note that the PLEDCO region presents unique difficulties with client
follow up as many entrepreneurs lack proper record keeping capacity on the applicant side.
Overall Conclusion
PLEDCO is providing an important service for those living within its jurisdiction. PLEDCO funds have
supported over $1 million in economic development, training and entrepreneurship supports during the
evaluation period. There is potential for PLEDCO to understand the impacts it has on the community to
attract additional funding, new partners and to improve communications between the communities. The
continued improvement and growth of PLEDCO board and management will result in a stronger support for
the people of the Primrose Lake Region.
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INTRODUCTION
Project Background
Primrose Lake Economic Development Corporation (PLEDCO) was formed as a result of the agreements for
economic development reached with the governments of Canada and Saskatchewan. The agreements
themselves resulted from negotiations regarding loss of use of the land in the Primrose Lake Air Weapons
Range. PLEDCO is the manager of trust funds granted by government for the long-term benefit of the four
affected communities of Jans Bay, Cole Bay, Beauval and Île-à-la-Crosse. PLEDCO’s mandate includes
ensuring the funds are preserved and used wisely for economic development.1
As per the Canada-Primrose Lake Community Economic Development Agreement (Federal Agreement) and
Saskatchewan-Primrose Lake Community Economic Development Agreement (Provincial Agreement),
PLEDCO is required to have an independent third party conduct an evaluation of the organization no less
than every five years. MNP LLP (MNP) was engaged by PLEDCO to conduct an evaluation of the organization,
its activities and projects for the years 2012/13 – 2016/17. This report contains the findings, conclusions and
recommendations of MNP’s evaluation.

Evaluation Scope and Objectives
As outlined in Section 7.11b of the Federal and Provincial Agreements:2
The Recipient agrees at their own cost, to have carried out, no less frequently than every 5
years for the duration of the Agreement, by an independent third party using Treasury Board
Policy standards, an evaluation of its activities and projects according to a framework and
time to be approved by the Board. The evaluation will measure the overall performance of
the Recipient in achieving the outcomes identified in the Agreement.
PLEDCO’s first evaluation was completed in 2012. The organization required its second, five-year evaluation
covering the years 2012/13 – 2016/17 in order to meet the requirements outlined in Section 7.11b of the
Agreements, as well as to determine the achievements and lessons learned since the last evaluation. The
PLEDCO Board of Directors is responsible for overseeing and reporting on PLEDCO’s performance through
the results of this evaluation.
PLEDCO required that performance measurements and evaluation of the last five years of its operation
include the following:

1

Largely verbatim from http://pledco.ca/index.php/about-us/pledco-w-u, accessed May 24, 2017.
The provision in the Saskatchewan-Primrose Lake Community Economic Development Agreement differs in one way from the
provision in the Canada-Primrose Lake Community Economic Development Agreement. Instead of “Treasury Board Policy standards”,
the Provincial agreement indicates that “recognized evaluation standards” are to be used.
2
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Performance Measurement

Evaluation
PLEDCO required reference to the Federal and Provincial Agreements to determine specific questions that
would be appropriate to answer the following evaluation issues:
Collaboration

Relevance

•

How has PLEDCO demonstrated the willingness to work collaboratively
with members and residents in addressing the objectives and principles
of the Agreements?

•

How effective has PLEDCO been in using a collaborative approach to
setting priorities and acting on those priorities?

•

Do the Agreements continue to be consistent with departmental- and
government-wide priorities and do they realistically address an actual
need?

•

Was PLEDCO an appropriate response to the needs identified?

•

Have the needs changed that PLEDCO was originally intended to meet?
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•

Is PLEDCO the most effective way to achieve the stated objectives and
priorities?

•

What are alternatives to PLEDCO in attempting to meet stated objectives
and priorities?

Alternatives and
Agreement design
issues

•

What has been done to ensure that funds are being handled properly
with respect to:
o Demonstration of due diligence?
o Providing sound administration?
o Providing strong follow up?
o Performance measurement and reporting?

Performance

•

How successful has PLEDCO been in achieving overall objectives of
promoting economic development, investment in strategic infrastructure
and enhancement of the economic viability and sustainability of the
Primrose Lake Area?

•

What were the activities, outputs and outcomes of the Agreements?

•

What factors facilitated or impeded the achievement of results?

•

Have there been any unintended outcomes?

Cost-effectiveness

Methodology
MNP conducted the five-year evaluation of PLEDCO using an approach aligned with the Treasury Board of
Canada Program Evaluation Methodology. The approach involved the following major work components:
Evaluation Plan Development
MNP prepared a detailed evaluation plan to function as our road map as well as to allow PLEDCO to monitor
evaluation progress from beginning to end. This plan provided a description of the evaluation approach,
tasks, time allotment and resources required to complete the project deliverables. The evaluation plan for
this engagement is included in Appendix A.
Detailed Document and Administrative Data Review
MNP conducted a comprehensive review of existing resources including PLEDCO annual reports, program
and policy documents, as well as relevant information gathered from industry partners, ministries and
departments. A thorough review of documentation pertaining to each PLEDCO initiative was also conducted.
This review assisted us in developing an overview of PLEDCO and its initiatives, including the scope,
partnerships, target groups, level of utilization and services provided. It also served as a line of evidence to
assist in addressing the evaluation issues.
A list of all documents and data reviewed as part of the evaluation is provided in Appendix B.
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Key Informant Interviews
To obtain a detailed understanding of PLEDCO’s initiatives, MNP dedicated one day to conducting face-toface interviews with representatives from PLEDCO. MNP prepared a list of the key informant interviewees in
consultation with PLEDCO.
Information from key informant interviews was required to address evaluation questions related to design
and implementation, impacts and cost effectiveness. Key informants provided input regarding:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Operational objectives of PLEDCO’s initiatives
Intended outputs and outcomes
Profiles of the initiative delivery models
Factors contributing to and/or constraining the effectiveness of the initiatives
Benefits of the initiatives, opportunities for improvement and alternatives
Degree to which intended outcomes are attained
Unintended (positive or negative) consequences occurring as a result of the initiatives
Nature and level of collaboration among key stakeholders and PLEDCO’s role in facilitating this
process

A list of all key informant interviews conducted as part of the evaluation is provided in Appendix C.
Program Participant Interviews
In collaboration with PLEDCO, a list of program participants (i.e. funding recipients) was developed for MNP
for to contact for interview. The goal of these interviews was to provide MNP with input on elements
including:
•
•
•
•
•

The degree to which the initiatives are achieving their intended outcomes
Funding recipients’ satisfaction with the delivery model and their suggestions for improvement
Qualitative assessment on the impact of the PLEDCO funding on client businesses
Understanding if the PLEDCO funding allowed the client to leverage additional funding or financing
Other potential improvements or insight in to the program.

However, repeated to attempts to reach PLEDCO clients, other than municipalities, for the interviews were
unsuccessful.
Data Analysis
Evaluation data from document reviews, administrative data sets and interviews was synthesized to address
each evaluation question. This included the combination of multiple lines of evidence to take into account
the strengths and limitations of each line of inquiry. We analyzed the evaluation data obtained from each
line of inquiry and assigned it to each evaluation question. The following graphic depicts how the
combination of multiple lines of evidence was used to develop valid, reliable and credible conclusions for
each evaluation question.
PLEDCO Five-Year Evaluation: 2012/13 – 2016/17
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MNP employed a variety of data analysis techniques to examine alternative explanations of results and to
enhance the ability to generalize the results (i.e. address concerns related to internal and external validity).
Report Development
MNP prepared this five-year program evaluation report synthesizing analyses and findings, and reporting on
the inputs, activities, outputs and outcomes of PLEDCO’s current initiatives. This report also addresses the
evaluation issues and questions. For each of the recommendations within this report, we have described the
rationale for the recommendation, the benefits that can be achieved by implementing the recommendation
and implementation considerations and suggestions.

Limitations of Evaluation
Evaluations typically have limitations that are important to understand in order to interpret findings and
conclusions appropriately. In the case of this evaluation, the primary limitations the reader should be aware
of is as follows:
1. MNP was unable to reach any PLEDCO entrepreneurship clients. We spoke with municipalities that
access infrastructure funding however, multiple attempts to reach clients were unsuccessful.
2. Over the course of the evaluation period PLEDCO was managed by three different Executive
Directors. This as resulted in inconsistent documentation in client files, board minutes and other
items which create challenges for the evaluating team in terms of data collection and file review.
3. During the evaluation period PLEDCO entered into an agreement with BRCF to deliver the BIP and
the PPIP. The addition of these programs resulted in PLEDCO referring entrepreneurial clients to
BRCF for support. PLEDCO does not maintain a record of PLEDCO community members who access
this program through BRCF, as such the evaluation was unable to assess how these programs are
meeting the mandate of PLEDCO.
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PRIMROSE LAKE ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION
Overview
The Primrose Lake Air Weapons Range was established in northwest Saskatchewan in 1953. As a result, the
Northern Municipalities of Beauval, Cole Bay, Jans Bay and Île-à-la-Crosse lost access to land that comprised
this Range. To compensate for this loss, the Canada-Primrose Lake Economic Development Agreement and
the Saskatchewan-Primrose Lake Community Economic Development Agreement were established in 2007.
As outlined in Section 2.1 of both the Federal and Provincial Agreements, the purpose of the Agreements is:
To assist and promote economic development in the communities within the Primrose Lake
Area affected by the establishment of the Primrose Lake Air Weapons Range in 1953 and to
enhance the long-term viability and sustainability of these communities by:
a) Promoting increased community economic activity, economic diversity and wealth in
the Primrose Lake Area;
b) Improving the quality of life of residents of the Primrose Lake Area communities;
c) Providing long-term economic benefits to the Primrose Lake Area communities for
current and future generations; and
d) Building capacity of Primrose Lake Area communities to effectively participate, in a
business-like decision-making environment, in the economic development and
diversification of the Primrose Lake Area.
The Federal Agreement involved the provision of $15 million from the Government of Canada; the Provincial
Agreement provided $4.5 million from the Government of Saskatchewan. Of the total $19.5 million provided,
$17.5 million is held in trust by an independent, professional money management firm. The remaining $2
million of Provincial Government funds was distributed for the purpose of Elders Economic Initiatives.
The Primrose Lake Economic Development Corporation was formed by the four Primrose Lake Area
communities in order to manage the funds granted by the Governments of Canada and Saskatchewan for the
long-term benefit of the communities. PLEDCO must operate within the terms of the Federal and Provincial
Agreements, which specify how PLEDCO is governed and how funds can be used, as well as other operating
and reporting requirements. PLEDCO’s mandate includes ensuring funds are preserved and used wisely for
economic development. The organization receives the annual income generated by the trust funds;
therefore, the amount of income received varies with financial market performance.
PLEDCO uses the annual income generated from the trust funds for contributions to economic development
and infrastructure projects, scholarships and costs of operating such as board meetings, travel, employee
salaries and office expenses.
PLEDCO operates Economic Development Assistance Programs and a Scholarship Program. The organization
also administers the Primary Producer Incentive Program (PPIP) and the Business Incentive Program (BIP) in
partnership with Beaver River Community Futures Development Corporation.
PLEDCO Five-Year Evaluation: 2012/13 – 2016/17
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PRIMROSE LAKE COMMUNITIES
Beauval
Beauval is a predominantly Métis community of over 800 people located on hills overlooking Beaver River.
Beauval is centrally located in northwest Saskatchewan, connecting with neighbouring communities. Beauval
derives its economic resources from limited commercial fishing, some trapping, the mines, local businesses
and Valley View Community School. Tourism and recreation activities also provide economic resources. Local
businesses include MDeez Confectionary, the Northern Store, Amy’s Bar & Motel and local and provincial
government bodies. The community also has a local radio/cable station, CIPI. There are two resorts – Sandy
Beach Resort and Angler’s Resort – just minutes from Beauval that offer cabins and fishing boats.3
Key industries in the community include:
•
•
•

Forestry
Commercial services
Tourism

Jans Bay
Jans Bay is a small Métis community of about 200 people, established in 1965. The community has a school
offering kindergarten through grade 9. High school students are bused to Beauval Valley High School. The
community does not have many businesses; therefore, purchases tend to be made in Canoe Lake or Meadow
Lake, depending on what is needed. All major shopping is done in Meadow Lake, which is located an hour
south of Jans Bay. The community is currently working on a number of projects to try to improve the
community’s economic development.4
Key industries in the community include;
•
•

Forestry
Mining

Cole Bay
Cole Bay is a resort community of approximately 150 people, located in a historic and recreationally-rich area
on the southwest shore of Canoe Lake. The community boasts scenic outdoor recreation and activities for
the novice to the advanced adventurer with a number of local lodges and camping areas. Cole Bay is also
located on the original Semchuk Trail and in close proximity to numerous First Nation communities and
historic trading routes and culturally rich sites. The community has a thriving and growing youth population.5
Key industries in the community include:
•

Forestry

3

Sourced largely verbatim from http://pledco.ca/index.php/about-us/pledco-communities, accessed May 29, 2017.
Ibid.
5 Ibid.
4
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•
•
•

Commercial services
Tourism
Mining

Île-à-la-Crosse
Île-à-la-Crosse is the second oldest community in Saskatchewan, established in 1846 as a Roman Catholic
mission, but also as a fur trading post in 1779. It has a rich history, being connected to the Churchill River,
Beaver River and Canoe River systems. The population of this Northern Village is approximately 1,600,
consisting of Métis, French, Scottish, Scandinavian and Cree settlers.6
Key industries in the community include:
•

Mining

Source: Google Maps

6

Ibid.
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PLEDCO OPERATIONS & GOVERNANCE
PLEDCO operates from a main office in Beauval. Operational staff include one part-time Administrative
Assistant and one full time Executive Director. The Executive Director typically operates out of the PLEDCO
office in Beauval Monday – Wednesday, spending Tuesday afternoons in Cole Bay and Jans Bay. Additionally,
the Executive Director typically spends Thursday and Friday in Île-à-la-Crosse.
The membership of the Corporation consists of the elected members of Council for each of the Primrose
Lake communities. The Board consists of eight voting Directors, two each appointed by the four
communities. The Governments of Canada and Saskatchewan appoint ex-officio Board members who
contribute to discussion but do not vote. The Board determines the use of the organization’s annual income.
The following table provides an overview of Board expenses for 2012/13 – 2016/17.
Year

Board Honoraria

Board Travel

2012 – 2013

$56,074.00

< Combined

2013 – 2014

$21,300.00

$22,032.74

2014 – 2015

$27,525.00

$32,276.48

2015 – 2016

$24,750.00

$24,781.16

2016 – 2017

$29,375,10

$31,389.99

As per the Organizational Bylaws of PLEDCO, “Directors shall not receive any remuneration for their services
but they may receive a stipend or payment for reasonable expenses to attend Board meetings or any other
necessary meetings with the prior approval of the Board. An honorarium shall be paid to Bard members for
attendance at Board meetings.”
The previous PLEDCO five-year evaluation conducted by Ference Weicker & Company recommended that the
Board take steps to reduce Board-related expenses. Overall, average Board honoraria and travel expenses
have increased when compared to the previous review.
The following table outlines Board expenses for 2008 – 2012.
Year

Board Honoraria

Board Travel

Service Fee

2008 – 2009

$4,507.00

$16,335.00

2,058.00

2009 – 2010

$5,332.00

$11,326.00

-

2010 – 2011

$31.981.00

$19,912.00

-

2011 – 2012

$27,746.00

$39,642.00

-
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Under the Agreement with the Federal Government, PLEDCO was able to use $150,000 a year of the Federal
funds provided for financing operations for the first five years. The Federal Agreement also allows use of up
to 15% of the annual income generated by the Federal funds for operating purposes for the duration of the
Agreement. In addition, the Provincial Government stipulates in its Agreement that PLEDCO can access 20%
of the earnings from the Provincial trust funds for operating purposes.

Key Findings and Observations – Operations
Strengths
• PLEDCO has attracted Executive Directors and staff that are committed to the communities and the
organization.
• PLEDCO operates efficiently with a small staff of the Executive Director and administrative support.
• The Executive Director ensures that the yearly financial audits are completed.
• Each Economic Development Program file is to contain an application checklist to outline the
contents of the file and aid in determining project viability. This checklist has been streamlined more
recently to create efficiencies in the process.
• The Executive Director has the capability to operate effectively with the policies and bylaws in place.
Opportunities for Growth
• Turnover in the Executive Director position has resulted in varying processes for monitoring and
maintaining client files creating inconsistencies.
• There is not a consistent tracking of approved funding expenditures (motion numbers, client
numbers etc.) to the expenditures. The Executive Director instructs the Administrative support staff
to write cheques which are then approved at the board level for disbursement.
• Client files managed by BRCF do not appear to be tracked by PLEDCO (i.e. a client file is not created
and outcomes are not tracked). This creates difficulty in determining if clients approved by BRCF
meet the PLEDCO mandate.
• A log is to be kept of all Economic Development applications received with a record of all
communication between the applicant and PLEDCO and a summary of items included in the
application. This log is not currently up-to-date. The Executive Director has indicated that the
applicant log will be streamlined and used consistently going forward.
• PLEDCO requires a process for effectively backing up and storing financial and client data in the event
of a natural disaster or break-in. - The Executive Director informed MNP of a break-in that took place
prior to his starting with the organization. A laptop was stolen which contained financial data and
client information.
• The exploration of partnerships is important for PLEDCO to leverage the limited amount of funds the
organization has. Partnering with term lenders will provide PLEDCO with the expertise the better
evaluate business plans.
• Minimal follow up has taken place with clients, there is not any tracking of outcomes of funding –
funds leveraged, jobs created, increased products or services etc.
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•
•
•

PLEDCO does not appear to receive a copy of final deliverables (i.e. client feasibility studies) to
ensure quality control.
Follow-up does not take place for clients receiving a PLEDCO contribution as part of the PPIP or BIP
managed by BRCF.
PLEDCO identified that follow-up is big concern with successful applicants as most people do not
keep consistent contact information.

Recommendations
1. When PLEDCO issues a cheque related to an approved project or client the date and motion number
should be included in the information provided to the Board, it should also be linked to an annual
summary (based on fiscal year) showing the opening balances of the funds, funds committed, funds
disbursed and remaining balances. PLEDCO indicated that a project commitment excel spreadsheet is
provided to the Board at each meeting but is not included in the board package. To cut down on
paper waste, this information is provided verbally to the Board via PowerPoint during the Executive
Director’s report. It is recommended that PLEDCO include a copy of this information in the meeting
minute files as this is not currently recorded.
2. Develop and document a standardized procedure for managing files – paper and electronic. For
projects that are funded studies, ensure a copy of the final report, i.e. business plan, is included in
the file.
3. Ensure the applicant log is maintained and all communications are reordered, ensure copies filed as
per a standardized filing system.
4. Ensure electronic files are backed up and stored off site in a consistent and secure manner – for
example a cloud based system. This should include scanned copies of paper client files, financial
records and other data retained by PLEDCO.
5. Develop a system for tracking outcomes from PLEDCO funding – additional funds leveraged, jobs
created etc. This also provides a strong link for continued support by PLEDCO to clients.

Key Findings and Observations – Governance
Strengths
• The Board has established clear policies and procedures.
• The Board receives board packages prior to each meeting
• The Board is satisfied with the level of reporting provided to the stakeholders at each general
meeting and annual meeting.
• Scotia Trust Company is the corporate trustee for the PLEDCO trust funds and Scotia Wealth
Management are the investment managers. The Board is exploring new avenues with other banks
for a better return on investment. The Board is proactive in reviewing the trust to ensure maximum
returns for the organization.
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Opportunities for Growth
• Board expenses are a significant expenditure for PLEDCO. With the establishment of the BIP and
PPIP there may not be a need to meet monthly as a full board. The use of subcommittees may allow
for reduced board expenses – for example an audit and finance committee could approve monthly
expenditures and sign off on cheques. The full board may only need to meet every two months or
quarterly depending on the number of proposals submitted for funding. Alternatives to meeting in
person should be reviewed to reduce this expenditure to PLEDCO.
• PLEDCO could be more strategic with the fund management opportunities, through set periodic
reviews of the fund and results (similar to this evaluation).
• The Board could benefit from increased training opportunities to further develop capacity.
• The Board is not provided with the current state disbursements for each fund as part of meeting
packages.
• Board members have a term of 2 years. Longer terms would decrease the amount of time required
training new members of the Board.
• There is not a board matrix or list to identify the skills required by the board. The key determining
factor appears to be home location.
Recommendations
1. Ensure the board package includes a summary of the fiscal year opening balances for the funds,
amounts committed, amounts disbursed and balances remaining. There was mixed feedback as to
the level of communication – some Board Members felt that they receive this information, others did
not. As this information was not included in Board minutes or other documentation it was not
possible for the evaluation team to validate the level of communication and information provided.
2. Establish requirement for periodic reviews of the trust fund to ensure highest returns are being
achieved as well as to understand the fees charged to PLEDCO for the management of the trust.
3. Incorporate learning opportunities into board retreats and strategic planning sessions – financial
literacy, governance roles and responsibilities etc.
4. Review options for less board meetings to reduce the annual board expenditures. It is important to
note that a decision has been made by the Board to decrease the regular meeting schedule from 12
each year to 10 to reduce expenses. The Board also decided to decrease the number of out of town
meetings to from two to one to increase savings in board expenses. Both decisions have been made
outside of the review period therefore were not observed by MNP.
5. Develop a skills matrix for the board to use as a board recruitment tool and to understand and
identify skill gaps amongst current members.
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PLEDCO PROGRAMS
Economic Development Assistance Program7
PLEDCO covers up to 50% of project costs under the Economic Development Assistance Program, while a
personal contribution is expected to be made by the individual/business to the project. Applications by
individuals for start-up or existing businesses are limited to receive a maximum contribution of $10,000 over
five years to go toward a single project or multiple business projects excluding business planning/marketing
and management/aftercare/business improvement. (Now clients are referred to BRCF)
Community Development Corporations are to work with the PLEDCO Executive Director to discuss upcoming
development and strategic plans in order to effectively plan for their projects. Generally, a contribution of up
to $50,000 per project is used as a guideline for Community Development Corporation projects based on
availability of funds.
Municipalities work with the PLEDCO Executive Director to discuss upcoming development and strategic
plans in order to effectively plan for their projects. Generally, a contribution of up to $50,000 per project is
used as a guideline for municipalities projects based on availability of funds. Regional initiatives are weighted
and joint submissions may be discussed by the Board. This policy is in addition to the Municipal
Infrastructure Policy.
Types of assistance provided by PLEDCO under the Economic Development Assistance Program include:
Economic Development Assistance
Assistance is generally in the form of a grant or contribution of cash for a specific project. PLEDCO does not
provide loans or loan guarantees. PLEDCO does not make equity investments or take ownership positions
such as a purchase of common or preferred shares.
(Clients are now referred to BRCF for this type of support through the BIP or PPIP)
Business Planning / Marketing and Management / Aftercare / Business Improvement
Assistance for business planning is available. Where possible, applicants are referred to other agencies to
apply for assistance for business planning in addition to submitting a PLEDCO application. The PLEDCO Board
considers contributions for a business plan up to 50% of the cost to a maximum of $10,000. This includes a
blend of contributions from other agencies, PLEDCO and the individual.
(Clients are now referred to BRCF for this type of support through the BIP or PPIP)

7

Information in this section was sourced from Economic Development Assistance Policy & Procedures Guide, Primrose Lake Economic
Development Corporation, April 8, 2017.
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Training and Education Opportunities
Assistance for organizations providing training and education opportunities especially in the area of business
and entrepreneurism are considered for a contribution. An annual training and education budget of $25,000
is set aside each year for the purpose of investing in those opportunities which the Board considers beneficial
to the contribution of economic sustainability for the region.
Municipalities
The four member communities of PLEDCO are eligible for up to 60% of the annual Canadian Infrastructure
Fund. This 60% is to be split evenly between them. The communities have the option of using the Fund until
exhausted yearly, or to let it accumulate year to year for a bigger project. This allotment does not disqualify
the communities from submitting additional infrastructure applications. Communities also have the option to
take from another community’s allotment with support from the affected community.
Included in Appendix E is a list of PLEDCO disbursements by community during the evaluation period. It is
important to note that the disbursement tracker provided by PLEDCO, does not consistently indicate the
motion or approved amount. It wasn’t until 2014 that motion numbers became included in the disbursement
lists. This missing information appears to be due to lack of consistent tracking mechanisms and not an
indication of improper activities.
Primrose Resource Corporation
Primrose Resource Corporation (PRC) was formed by the majors of Beauval, Cole Bay, Île-à-la-Crosse and Jans
Bay to generate wealth and employment for the region. PRC focuses its efforts towards renewable and nonrenewable resources to take part in the spin off businesses that accrue from these resources. 8
PLEDCO has provided the following disbursements to PRC during the review period.
Primrose Resource Corporation Disbursements (2012/13-2016/17)
Date

Applicant

Approved ($)

Disbursed ($)

100,000

100,000

Fund

September 2012

PRC - Equity Contribution - Gabrielle Const.

November 2014

PRC Strategic Plan - Duplicate

11,325

August 2014

SM Solutions Inc - Mini Mall Feasibility (Motion
#456)

17,500

17,500

CAN-INFRA

November 2014

Strat Planning - #14-107

11,325

11,325

CAN-ECDEV

May 2015

R&D for Forks Development

50,000

50,000

CAN-ECDEV

October 2015

Service Station at Beauval Junction

500,000

-

CAN-ECDEV

March 2016

Service Station - Petromaxx Construction

157,500.00

CAN-INFRA

August 2016

Service station - Deposit on building materials

41,614.07

CAN-INFRA

January 2017

PRC Strategy Planning Session

25,000

SK-ECDEV

PRC - SPS - Reimbursed for funds not utilized

8

25,000

CAN-ECDEV
CAN-ECDEV

10,413.65

http://www.primroseresources.ca/about.html, accessed October 13, 2017.
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Total

$715,150

$392,525.42

Research and Studies
A variety of research projects and feasibility studies were funded in full or part by PLEDCO during the
evaluation period:9
•
•
•
•
•

Technology Options for Heat and Power in PLEDCO Communities
Housing Study (Beauval Case Study)
Tourism in North West Saskatchewan
Aquaculture – Fish Farming Feasibility Study
Beauval Biomass Feasibility

These studies are available to Community Development Corporations and may also be requested by
individuals if they are looking to pursue opportunities in any of the areas the study may have covered. The
above listed studies have not lead to any businesses or business development.
The Executive Director has identified several research projects for future consideration:
•
•
•
•
•

Financial Planner Audit
Successful Applicant Impact Study
Alternate Fund Options
Legal Marijuana Operation
Business Incubation Centre

PLEDCO grants assistance through the Economic Development Assistance Program via formal written
applications. Application requirements are as follows:
•
•
•
•
•
•

9

Submission of a PLEDCO application form.
A business outline if the total project cost is $25,000 or under. A business plan is required if the total
project cost is over $25,000.
Established businesses and organizations are to provide financial statements for their last two
completed fiscal years.
If available, annual reports, business plans, strategies and analyses, policy statements, brochures,
marketing materials and other business and organizational documents are to be submitted.
Concurrent applications to other agencies, if feasible, are to be submitted. PLEDCO has limited
resources and will leverages others’ funds if possible.
Applications from business entrepreneurs are expected to meet the qualifications of other business
development agencies relevant to the project.

http://pledco.ca/index.php/business-resources/research-studies, accessed May 29, 2017.
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The general process for consideration of applications is as follows:
•
•

•

•
•
•

•

•
•
•

•

The Executive Director reviews and prepares a summary and opinion on the application for the Board
utilizing an application checklist.
All applications come before a duly convened meeting of the Board for consideration and decision,
unless the project is obviously ineligible or the application is incomplete. The Executive Director
informs the Board of all applications and referrals.
Board members and staff must self-declare any conflicts. Should the Board be of the opinion that a
conflict exists, the Board recommends that the member remove themselves from the room for the
vote on the application.
The Executive Director informs applicants in writing of Board decisions as soon as possible.
In extraordinary circumstances only, and by special arrangement, the Board may hear verbal
submissions from an applicant.
Letter of Offer to recipient is to state that PLEDCO has the right to publicize its grants, contributions
and other support, subject to the requirements for confidentiality of clients’ personal and business
details. PLEDCO’s right to publicize may include, at a minimum, the recipient name, community, form
of assistance and amount of assistance.
Letter of Offer to recipient is to state that PLEDCO monies are to be expended for stated purposes,
otherwise PLEDCO may demand repayment and suspend any further payment. The Board may
consider a request to amend the application.
Applicants may appeal a decision.
PLEDCO may consider multi-year applications subject to cash flow availability. Applicants must
realize that the availability of funding in future years cannot be guaranteed.
Any attempt by an applicant to mislead PLEDCO by supplying false and/or misleading information
results in rejection of the applicant and/or a request for repayment of any assistance supplied and
cessation of any further payment.
PLEDCO’s Administrative Assistant is to keep a log of all applications received and a record of all
communications with the applicant. The log is to include a note explaining what items were included
in the application. Each application is to have a file.

Since the establishment of the Business Incentive Program entrepreneur applicants are typically referred to
this BIP at BRCF.

Key Findings and Observations - Economic Development Assistance Program
Strengths
• Provides community members with the ability to obtain a grant or contribution to a project that it
non-repayable.
• Through this program, Economic Development Corporations can communicate and coordinate
economic development plans with PLEDCO to gain access to grants and contributions.
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•

•
•
•
•
•
•
•

PLEDCO provided a $100,000 grant to the Île-à-la-Crosse Fishing Company in 2014 to establish a new
processing plant. This project has had a high impact on the region and residents as fishing is a major
industry.
PLEDCO is well connected to each of the member communities providing the Executive Director and
Board with a strong level of insight into the strengths and needs of each community.
The Economic Development Assistance Program supports training and education opportunities for
communities and residents.
The Scholarship Program provides community residents with the opportunity to advance their
education which can promote and support entrepreneurship.
PLEDCO has more flexibility compared to other lending agencies and provide grants/contributions to
projects that are not solely business related (i.e. infrastructure).
PLEDCO utilizes social media and postings in each community village office to notify residents of the
Executive Directors attendance in each community.
Applicants that are not applicable for the Economic Assistance Program are provided with other
funding opportunities that are better suited (i.e. BRCF referrals).
Stakeholders identified that the communities have become more closely aligned when it comes to
identifying their needs especially related to infrastructure and community development.

Opportunities for Growth
• Municipalities and Economic Development Corporations have the opportunity to work with the
PLEDCO Executive Director to determine development opportunities that meet community needs.
• Stakeholders identified that residents in the smaller communities could benefit from additional
“hands-on” support from the Executive Director including helping complete applications etc. PLEDCO
has indicated that the information sessions currently provided can be sparsely attended. This
indicates an opportunity for PLEDCO to re-evaluate how these information sessions are
communicated to community members to identify gaps in the spread of information.
• Performance measures are currently not tracked. Tracking the performance and outcomes of client
projects could provide PLEDCO with additional insight on community needs.
• Increase client follow-up to gain feedback and to track performance.
• There are opportunities for educational/training development in the region. Stakeholders identified
a lack of capacity within the communities. Providing communities with support in selecting
appropriate training opportunities could increase client success.
• Due to turnover in the Executive Director position, PLEDCO does not have consistent client files
systems or reporting tools. There is an opportunity for PLEDCO to standardize these processes to
improve consistent tracking in the event of employee turnover.
Recommendations
1. Standardize reporting, filing and data management processes to improve consistent tracking in the
event of employee turnover.
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2. Increase follow-up activities with clients receiving the PLEDCO grants and funding to gain insight on
the program. Tracking of client outcomes to fully understand the impact the funds have had – items
to track could include additional funding leveraged, number of employees hired.

Business Incentive Program (BIP)
The Business Incentive Program (BIP), in partnership with BRCF, was created shortly after the pilot-year of
the Primary Producer Incentive Program was complete. To follow in the success of the PPIP, PLEDCO and
BRCF wanted to use the same model for entrepreneurs in the PLEDCO communities to be able to access
loans through BRCF to start-up a business, integrating this with PLEDCO’s non-repayable contribution to the
business start-up. By doing this, anyone who applies for a small loan from BRCF up to $35,000 to start up a
business would be eligible for PLEDCO’s non-repayable contribution, provided the borrower paid their
portion of the loan first.10 To administer the program, PLEDCO provides BRCF a yearly consulting /
administration fee of $12,500.
The following table provides an overview of the BIP disbursements during its pilot year of operation.
Business Incentive Loan
Grants ($)

Marketing ($)

Business Support ($)

Total

40,000

7,500

10,000

Used

39,714

5,140

1,474

Available

$286

$2,359

$8,526

The BIP operates under the following guiding principals:
• Available to start up and expansion businesses in which the principles reside in one of the four
PLEDCO communities.
• The grant will apply to the first $35,000 of the loan and not exceed $10,000. The business grant
contribution shall be as outlined below:
o Loans $5,000 and under are eligible for a grant of 50% of the loan.
o Loans over $5,000 are eligible for a grant of 35% of the loan.
• The primary intent is to finance new business start ups and business expansions in the PLEDCO
communities coupled with mentoring and business support. Financial support will be supplied by
BRCF.
• Clients will be required to develop a business plan and keep financial records, this will be a
requirement of the grant portion. BRCF will provide mentoring, access to capital and business
support.

10

http://pledco.ca/index.php/programs/availableprograms/menu-bip, accessed May 29, 2017.
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•
•

The grant contribution will pay the balance of the loan when the participant has demonstrated that
financial records are current and the loan portion is paid.
Clients will contribute to this program by developing a business plan, keeping financial records and
accessing the mention by BRCF.

For the pilot program, the following parameters were established
• PLEDCO committed $75,000 and BRCF also committed loan dollars for this program.
• BRCF was to communicate with PLEDCO’s Executive Director to insure each client is eligible for the
program.
• PLEDCO’s commitment of $75,000 was to be used for the grant portion of the loan, consulting fees
and business supports
• Each client will receive a Business package which will include a ledger, pens, pencils and financial
information.
The application process for the Business Incentive Program is as follows:11
•
•
•
•

•
•
•

Applicants must have a business idea/outline, skills to run the business and 5% cash equity to put
into the business (negotiable depending on business type).
Completion and submission of a PLEDCO/BRCF BIP application.
Work with BRCF on the business outline (larger business ventures may require a full business plan).
Once BRCF confirms applicant eligibility to receive a non-repayable contribution from PLEDCO and
confirms the business idea is viable, the business outline/business plan is submitted to the Loans
Committee for approval.
Once the loan is approved, the borrower is able to use the money to start the business.
Financial records of the business must be kept.
BRCF provides assistance with business consulting needs (i.e. accounting, marketing, strategic
planning, etc.).

To access the non-repayable contribution from PLEDCO, the borrower must successfully run the business and
keep financial records (through follow-up reports with BRCF). The borrower must also completely pay back
their portion of the BRCF loan.

Key Findings and Observations – BIP
Strengths
• Stakeholders reported that BIP is operating as effectively as it can be at this time.
• For clients, it is a bit of a “one stop shop” for entrepreneurship support through BRCF

11

http://pledco.ca/index.php/programs/availableprograms/menu-bip, accessed May 30, 2017.
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•

PLEDCO does not specialize in reviewing business plans. Collaborating with BRCF provides PLECDO
with increased business plan review expertise.

Opportunities for Growth
• There is an opportunity for PLEDCO to expand its collaborations to include other funding agencies
(i.e. CCDF)
• PLEDCO tracks the lump sum amounts provided to BRCF for this project but does not track how the
funds are specifically divided to program applicants, this information is provided annually or if
requested by the Executive Director to BRCF.
• Clearly tracking applicant specific disbursements provides PLEDCO with the opportunity to ensure
that projects selected meet the PLEDCO mandate.
Recommendations
1. Work with BRCF to receive monthly reporting on number of inquiries, approvals and outcomes of BIP
funding.
2. Work with BRCF to receive copies of project deliverables and client files.
3. Ensure regular reporting (via a standardised written format) is provided to the Executive Director by
BRCF and included in the Board meeting minutes. This should include current applications (to be
approved), approved applications and amounts committed and remaining program balances. There
was mixed feedback as to the level of communication – some Board Members felt that they receive
this information, others did not. As this information was not included in Board minutes or other
documentation it was not possible for the evaluation team to validate the level of communication
and information provided.

Primary Producer Incentive Program (PPIP)
The Primary Producer Incentive Program (PPIP) is a partnership with Beaver River Community Futures
Development Corporation (BRCF), created so that those Primary Producers in the industries of commercial
fishing, trapping and wild rice harvesting could access loans up to $10,000 from BRCF that would include a
non-repayable contribution from PLEDCO.12 To administer the program, PLEDCO provides BRCF a yearly
consulting/administration fee of $15,000.
The following table provides an overview of the funding distributed through the PPIP. Information was
provided by the BRCF.
Primary Producer Incentive Program

12

Year

Dollars Lent Including Loan Fee

Grants Committed (PLEDCO)

Pilot
Sept. 2014 – 2015

$143,278.93

$57,310.05

http://pledco.ca/index.php/programs/availableprograms/primary-producer-incentive-program, accessed May 29, 2017.
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Year 1 of 3
Sept. 2015 - 2016

$102,601.30

$40,234.92

Year 2 of 3
Sept. 2016 - 2017

$161,601.10

$63,351.11

Total

$407,481.33

$160,896.08

The following table provides an overview of the total number of loans, the sector and the community
receiving the loan.
Primary Producer Incentive Program
Sector
Year

Community
Cole Bay

Ile-a-laCrosse

Beauval

Total
Loans

Trapping

Fishing

Wild
Rice

Pilot
Sept. 2014 – 2015

9

10

0

3

8

8

0

19

Year 1 of 3
Sept. 2015 - 2016

7

11

1

2

3

8

6

19

Year 2 of 3
Sept. 2016 - 2017

0

18

9

1

4

14

8

27

All Years

16

39

10

6

15

30

14

65

Jans Bay

The application process for the Primary Producer Incentive Program is as follows:13
•
•
•

•
•

13

Applicants must obtain proof of production activity, quotes from service providers or vendors for
required equipment and two pieces of identification.
Completion and submission of a PLEDCO/BRCF PPIP application and the required documentation
listed above.
Once BRCF confirms applicant eligibility for receipt of a non-repayable contribution from PLEDCO and
confirms the list of services or equipment is allowed, the loan application is reviewed and a
response/letter is drafted to the applicant.
Successful applicants will work with BRCF to complete Direction of Payment forms to pay service
providers/vendors.
Recipients are to keep track of revenues and expenses for the primary production activity for future
PPIP applications with BRCF.

http://pledco.ca/index.php/programs/availableprograms/primary-producer-incentive-program, accessed May 30, 2017.
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To access the non-repayable contribution from PLEDCO, recipients are to keep track of their financial records
and use them for follow-up with BRCF, and pay their portion of the BRCF loan (60%) in full; PLEDCO will pay
the remaining portion (40%).

Key Findings and Observations – PPIP
Strengths
• Stakeholders identified that the PPIP is effective at meeting the seasonal needs of the communities.
• The PPIP provides opportunities for Primary Producers in industries such as commercial fishing,
trapping and wild rice harvesting to access increased loan opportunities with a non-repayable
contribution from PLEDCO.
• PLEDCO does not specialize in reviewing business plans. Collaborating with BRCF provides PLEDCO
with increased business plan review expertise.
• BRCF provides PLEDCO with an annual report that details tracking data for the program indicating
funds spent, each project and the community the client resides in.
Opportunities for Growth
• When reviewing an application, PLEDCO can refer applicants to BRCF. Once a project has been
approved by BRCF, PLEDCO contributes a non-repayable contribution portion. This program is fully
managed by BRCF but there is an opportunity for PLEDCO to improve tracking for its portion of the
program. PLEDCO relies solely on BRCF for tracking data related to the program.
• There is an opportunity for PLEDCO to expand its collaborations to include other funding agencies
(i.e. CCDF)
• Clearly tracking applicant specific disbursements provides PLEDCO with the opportunity to ensure
that projects selected meet the PLEDCO mandate.
Recommendations
1. Work with BRCF to receive monthly reporting on number of inquiries, approvals and outcomes of
PPIP funding.
2. Work with BRCF to receive copies of project deliverables and client files.
3. Ensure regular reporting (via a standardised written format) is provided to the Executive Director by
BRCF and included in the Board meeting minutes. This should include current applications (to be
approved), approved applications and amounts committed and remaining program balances. There
was mixed feedback as to the level of communication – some Board Members felt that they receive
this information, others did not. As this information was not included in Board minutes or other
documentation it was not possible for the evaluation team to validate the level of communication
and information provided.
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Scholarship Program
Applications for scholarships are reviewed by a separate committee consisting of Board members from each
community. An effort is made to equally distribute the funding between each community.
Scholarships are available annually to graduating grade 12 students from the four communities registered in
a post-secondary educational program (including trades programs). Previous graduates attending a postsecondary program are also eligible.
The table below illustrates the number of scholarships by year as well as the total amount disbursed.14
Year
2012
Number of scholarships awarded
Total disbursement

2013

2014

2015

2016

Total

14

17

15

15

12

73

$14,000

$17,000

$17,000

$16,000

$12,000

$76,000

Key Findings and Observations – Scholarship Program
Strengths
• Provides opportunities for youth located in the PLEDCO communities to receive a grant to pursue
post-secondary education.
• The program typically receives more applicants than spots available for the program which indicate
popularity.
• The Scholarship Committee maintains fairness across the communities. Applicants from smaller
communities (i.e. Jans Bay or Cole Bay) are highly likely to receive a grant due to the lower level of
applicants from these communities.
• The grants are mainly tailored for students pursuing a business degree.
Opportunities for Growth
• MNP identified during the stakeholder interviews that there is a perception that scholarships are
awarded primarily to those seeking post secondary education that is primarily business related.
Emphasising that grants are provided to students pursing education that is not solely business
related could aid in improving the perception of the program.
Recommendations
1. Documentation of outcomes – number of post secondary graduates who obtained scholarships, case
studies of how this scholarship impacted students post secondary education opportunities.

14

Data obtained from http://pledco.ca/index.php/scholarship-program/current-years-recipients and
http://pledco.ca/index.php/scholarship-program/previous-years-recipients, accessed May 29, 2017.
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2. Greater documentation of what the impact of this funding was to the students would confirm the
value of the investment.
3. Connect with students who have obtained scholarships in the past to be champions of the program
and discuss with other students how the scholarship impacted their education path. It is important
to note that although outside of the review period, PLEDCO has committed to highlighting successful
applicants through a poster campaign to be rolled out in the fall of 2017.
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FINANCIAL RESULTS
As noted, PLEDCO is the manager of a trust fund granted by Government for the long-term benefit of the
four communities of Jans Bay, Cole Bay, Beauval and Île-à-la-Crosse, which were affected by the creation of
the Primrose Lake Air Weapons Range. A total of $19.5 million, including $4.5 million from the Province of
Saskatchewan and $15 million from the Government of Canada, was provided. Of this amount, $17.5 million
is held in trust by an independent, professional money management firm.
PLEDCO receives the annual income generated by the trust funds. The amount of income received varies
with the performance of financial markets, particularly interest rates. The annual income is used for
contributions to economic development and infrastructure projects, scholarships and costs of operating (i.e.
Board meetings, travel, employee salaries, office expenses, etc.).
Annual audits are completed and each year of the evaluation the audit option states that the financial
statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of PLEDCO and the results of its
operations, changes in fund balances and its cash flows for the years ended in accordance with Canadian
accounting standards for no-for-profit organizations. Copies of financial statement for the evaluation period
are contained in Appendix F.

Key Findings and Observations – Financial Results
Strengths
• Monthly bank reconciliations for the operations and the funds are provided as part of the board
package.
• The organization ensures a high-quality firm is selected to perform the audit annually.
Opportunities for Growth
• Regular (beyond annual) financial statements are not prepared or provided as part of the board
package.
• Budgets compared to actual results are not prepared on a monthly basis for comparison and review
by the board and management.
• Off site or cloud data backup of financial information does not occur, information is kept on laptops
and backed up to staff zip drives that are left on site in desks or taken home. This data is not secure.
Recommendations
1. Obtain a secure system for back up of financial information for the organization.
2. Prepare budgets and compare regularly to financial statements (quarterly or monthly dependent on
frequency of board meetings and change in information).
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OVERARCHING OBSERVATIONS
As outlined in the methodology, in addition to reviewing the administration and operation of the specific
programs offered the evaluation examined how well PLEDCO as an organization is performing and meeting
its mandate. This was done by focusing on the following key areas:
Collaboration

Relevance

Cost-effectiveness

Alternatives and
Agreement design
issues

Performance

•

How has PLEDCO demonstrated the willingness to work collaboratively
with members and residents in addressing the objectives and principles
of the Agreements?

•

How effective has PLEDCO been in using a collaborative approach to
setting priorities and acting on those priorities?

•

Do the Agreements continue to be consistent with departmental- and
government-wide priorities and do they realistically address an actual
need?

•

Was PLEDCO an appropriate response to the needs identified?

•

Have the needs changed that PLEDCO was originally intended to meet?

•

Is PLEDCO the most effective way to achieve the stated objectives and
priorities?

•

What are alternatives to PLEDCO in attempting to meet stated objectives
and priorities?

•

What has been done to ensure that funds are being handled properly
with respect to:
o

Demonstration of due diligence?

o

Providing sound administration?

o

Providing strong follow up?

o

Performance measurement and reporting?

•

How successful has PLEDCO been in achieving overall objectives of
promoting economic development, investment in strategic infrastructure
and enhancement of the economic viability and sustainability of the
Primrose Lake Area?

•

What were the activities, outputs and outcomes of the Agreements?

•

What factors facilitated or impeded the achievement of results?

•

Have there been any unintended outcomes?
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Collaboration
•
•
•

•

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

•

•

The Board consists of community member representatives from each PLEDCO community. Board
members are selected by local leadership and serve on the Board for two years.
The Board meets regularly and members provide information to their representative community.
The Executive Director travels to PLEDCO communities frequently to remain viable and connected to
the needs of each community.
o Tuesday afternoons are spent in either Cole Bay or Jans Bay. Thursday and Friday are spent
in Île-à-la-Crosse where office space is provided in-kind.
o The Executive Director posts travel schedules on social media as well.
The AGM is open to the public and outlines the activities of the organization, strategic goals and
presents for the up-coming year. Residents are encouraged to provide their opinions regarding these
priorities and activities. Annual reports are also created and distributed to each of the communities.
PLEDCO has a strong relationship with BRCF. Actively pursing collaborations with funding agencies
could provide increase opportunities for PLEDCO to accomplish its mandate.
Stakeholders indicated that the Executive Director travels to communities each month to keep them
informed on PLEDCO initiatives and programs.
PLEDCO releases a newsletter which is distributed to community members.
The Board receives meeting packages prior to each meeting with key information included.
The PLEDCO communities have become capable of working together and agreeing on common goals
which previously caused tensions.
PLEDCO has developed strategic partnerships with BRCF to offer the PPIP and BIP.
PLEDCO has reached out to SIEF and CCDF to further expand collaboration.
Select membership communities have identified the need for community meetings to discuss the
annual report. These are general informational sessions that allow membership to provide feedback
to PLEDCO prior to the AGM. In 2017, the Executive Director will meet with these communities in
July/August to conduct these meetings.
PLEDCO is not the only funding agency in the region and does not specialize in scrutinizing business
plans. It is important the PLEDCO continue to collaborate with term lenders and funding agencies to
better evaluate business opportunities.
Some interviewees felt that the Executive Director could spend increased time in the small
communities as it appears to some that the larger communities receive majority of the attention.
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Relevance
•
•

Stakeholders reported that the funding agreements are well laid out but it is important that Board
members and the Executive Director read and understand the funding agreements.
PLEDCO has developed strategic partnerships over the last few years (i.e. BRCF) that augment and
complement existing government agencies and other financial institutions.

Cost-Effectiveness
•
•
•

•
•
•

•

PLEDCO operates with minimal staff to deliver economic development services to a wide geographic
region.
PLEDCO Board expenses are a significant portion of annual expenditures and the identification of
opportunities to reduce these are recommended.
PLEDCO collaborates with BRCF to offer the PPIP and BIP. PLEDCO does not specialize in scrutinizing
business plans. The partnership provides PLEDCO with the ability to utilize BRCF’s skills to further
evaluate applicants.
Stakeholders reported that PLEDCO has a small amount of funds but have been very impactful with
them.
PLEDCO has taken a proactive approach to determining feasibility of projects prior to investing. This
has provided the communities with perspective on the costs to implement initiatives and projects.
Scotia Trust Company is the corporate trustee for the PLEDCO trust funds and Scotia Wealth
Management are the investment managers. The Board is exploring new avenues with other banks
for a better return on investment. The Board is proactive in reviewing the trust to ensure maximum
returns for the organization.
Stakeholders identified that PLEDCO does augment and compliment existing government programs
and financial agencies.

Alternatives and Agreement Design Issues
•
•
•
•
•
•

Board due diligence (being informed, requirement list, management of the fund and disbursements)
Executive Director following up on BRCF disbursements of PLEDCO funds, reports on businesses
receiving these funds, determining eligibility
Executive Director analysis of applicant prior to providing information to the Board.
o In file checklist is used to determine eligibility and confirm that requirements are obtained
Executive Director/Administrative Assistant tracking communication with applicant consistently and
ensuring that communication is tracked in the client folder.
Ensuring that the correct motion number is associated with the correct funding disbursements and
that each motion number is recorded.
Detailed tracking of decision making process in Board meeting minutes
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•
•

•

•
•
•

•

•

•
•

•
•
•
•

•
•

The Board identifies possible applicants based on a checklist. Originally the Board did not have
criteria for judging applications but this has been standardized.
The Board receives a policies and procedure manual outlining expectations surrounding due
diligence (i.e. conflict of interest).
o Conflicts of interest have been recorded in meeting minutes. In earlier cases it has been
unclear when the Board Member exited and returned to the meeting. In other cases the
President declared a conflict but did not exit the meeting.
o These have been clarified in 2016-2017 year.
Board members are selected by major and council for each community. Some communities select
their representative others accept applications.
o A criminal record check is required
The Executive Director ensures that the yearly financial audits are completed.
Turnover in the Executive Director position has resulted in varying processes for monitoring and
maintaining client files creating inconsistencies.
Each Economic Development Program file contains an application checklist to outline the contents of
the file and aid in determining project viability. This checklist has been streamlined more recently to
create efficiencies in the process.
Client files managed by BRCF do not appear to be tracked by PLEDCO (i.e. a client file is not created
and outcomes are not tracked). This creates difficulty in determining if clients approved by BRCF
meet the PLEDCO mandate.
A log is to be kept of all Economic Development applications received with a record of all
communication between the applicant and PLEDCO and a summary of items included in the
application. This log is not currently up-to-date. The Executive Director has indicated that the
applicant log will be streamlined and used consistently going forward.
The Board is not provided with a list of disbursements for each fund as part of meeting packages.
This information would provide the Board with an increased understanding of each funds operations.
PLEDCO requires a process for effectively backing up and storing financial and client data in the event
of a natural disaster or break-in.
o The Executive Director informed MNP of a break-in that took place prior to his starting with
the organization. A laptop was stolen which contained financial data and client information.
The Executive Director has the capability to operate effectively with the policies and bylaws in place
The Board receives packages prior to each meeting
Board members have a turn over of 2 years. Longer terms would decrease the amount of time
required training new members of the Board.
The exploration of partnerships is important for PLEDCO to leverage the limited amount of funds the
organization has. Partnering with term lenders will provide PLEDCO with the expertise the better
evaluate business plans.
The Board is satisfied with the level of reporting provided to the stakeholders at each general
meeting and annual meeting.
Minimal follow up has taken place with clients.
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•
•
•
•
•
•

•
•
•

PLEDCO does not appear to receive a copy of final deliverables (i.e. client feasibility studies) to
ensure quality control.
Follow-up does not take place for clients receiving a PLEDCO contribution as part of the PPIP or BIP
managed by BRCF.
PLEDCO identified that follow-up is big concern with successful applicants as most people do not
keep consistent contact information.
Communication with PLEDCO community residents is primarily through annual reports, AGM’s,
newsletters and the PLEDCO website.
The Executive Director does not conduct a formal performance measurement process.
Scotia Trust Company is the corporate trustee for the PLEDCO trust funds and Scotia Wealth
Management are the investment managers. The Board is exploring new avenues with other banks
for a better return on investment. The Board is proactive in reviewing the trust to ensure maximum
returns for the organization.
Improve fund management and return on investment.
PLEDCO could be more strategic with their fund management opportunities.
It was indicated that the Board could benefit from increased training opportunities to further
develop capacity.

Performance
As PLEDCO does not track outcomes related to funding it is not possible to fully evaluate the performance of
the organization.
Additional follow up, tracking of key metrics and funding results by PLEDCO is required to adequately
understand how the fund is performing.
Qualitative information from stakeholder interviews, data review etc. does indicate that PLEDCO overall is
realizing its mandate. However, additional follow up to understand the impacts of the BIP and PPIP
programs specifically to confirm that the recipients align to PLEDCOs mandate should be undertaken to fully
validate this.
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CONCLUSIONS
Evaluation should not be conducted simply to prove that a program worked or as an accountability
measuring stick, but rather as a management and learning tool that can be used for critical input into
performance enhancement initiatives. The conclusions drawn and recommendations provided herein should
be used as a catalyst for ongoing dialogue that can be realized
PLEDCO is providing an important service for the people living in the four communities. PLEDCO funds have
supported over $1 million in economic development, training and entrepreneurship supports during the
evaluation period. There is potential to further understand the impacts that PLEDCO has had in the
community. Additional understanding of these impacts can be used to attract additional funding, new
partners and help communications to the four communities about activities.
The recommendations that were provided throughout the report are intended to provide PLEDCO operations
and the board with actionable options that will result in a stronger organization and board. The continued
improvement and growth of the board and management through the implementation of the
recommendations will hopefully result in not only a stronger organization operationally but a stronger
supporter for the people of the Primrose Lake Region.
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APPENDIX A – EVALUATION FRAMEWORK
List of Data sources:
-

-

Staff
Economic Development Officers
Town Officials (Mayors)
Other service providers

Evaluation Area
Economic
Development
Assistance
Program

Evaluation
Measures

PLEDCO Board
Clients
Background documentation
Partnerships with Funding Agencies

Quantitative Measure(s)

Qualitative Measure(s)

Method(s)

Data Source(s)

What resources are
used to carry out
this program?

•
•
•
•

Number of staff
Operating costs
Materials
Time dedicated to
program

• Perceptions of staff
related to the delivery
of the program
• Perceptions of the
PLEDCO Board

• Interviews
• Data review

•
•
•
•

PLEDCO staff
PLEDCO Board
Strategic plan
Annual reports

What activities took
place to make this
program happen?

•
•
•
•
•

Newsletters
Meeting minutes
Social Media
Sources of funding
Partnerships developed
(CCDF, SMEDCO,
Beaver River CF).

• Perceptions of
PLEDCO staff
• Perceptions of clients
• Perceptions of
PLEDCO Board
• What did it take to
carry out the
programs?

• Interviews
• Data review

•
•
•
•

PLEDCO staff
PLEDCO Board
Clients
Annual reports

What did this
program produce?
(events, services,
physical outputs)

• Number of applications
received
• Number of applications
accepted
• Dollar amount of
money loaned
• Applicant success
stories

• Perceptions of the
clients
• Perceptions of the
staff
• Perceptions of the
Economic
Development Officers

• Interviews
• Data review

• PLEDCO staff
• PLEDCO Board
• Economic
Development
Officers
• Town officials
• Funding
agencies
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Evaluation Area

Evaluation
Measures

Quantitative Measure(s)

Qualitative Measure(s)

Method(s)

Data Source(s)

• Number of individuals
accessing training and
education opportunities
• Number of
municipalities utilizing
funding from the
Canadian Infrastructure
Fund
• Partnerships with
funding agencies

• Perceptions of Town
Officials
• Perceptions of
funding agencies

How well did the
programs reach the
targeted population
in the PLEDCO
communities?

• Number of applications
received
• Number of applications
accepted
• Funding provided ($)
• Trends over the past 5
years

• Perceptions of staff
related to the delivery
of the programs
• Did the message
reach the right
members of each
community?
• Are PLEDCO
community members
aware of the
opportunities
available?
• Economic
Development
Corporation
collaboration

• Interviews
• Data review

• PLEDCO staff
• Economic
Development
Officers
• Annual reports

What have been the
impacts of this
program?

• Economic development
initiatives
• Economic
improvements in
PLEDCO communities

• Are PLEDCO
community members
taking advantage of
the program?
• Perceptions of
PLEDCO community

• Interviews

•
•
•
•

• Financial
statements
• Annual reports

PLEDCO staff
PLEDCO Board
Interviews
Annual reports
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Evaluation Area

Business
Incentive
Program

Evaluation
Measures

Quantitative Measure(s)

Qualitative Measure(s)

• Education opportunities
through PLEDCO

members on how well
these programs are
reaching the
community
• Client satisfaction
• Increased
awareness/interest in
economic
development
• Changes that have
occurred in the
knowledge, attitudes
and personal
behaviors in the
PLEDCO communities
and Economic
Development
Corporations

Is Economic
Development
improving in each of
the PLEDCO
communities?

• Trends in each
community related to
economic development
• Collaboration with
Economic Development
Corporations

• Do community
members, town
officials and Economic
Development
Corporations see
changes or trends in
economic
development

• Interviews

• Interviews

What resources are
used to carry out
this program?

•
•
•
•

• Perceptions of staff
related to the delivery
of the programs
• Perception of Beaver
River CF

• Interviews
• Data review

• PLEDCO staff
• PLEDCO Board
• Beaver River CF
- CEO
• Annual reports

Number of staff
Operating costs
Materials
Time dedicated to
program

Method(s)

Data Source(s)
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Evaluation Area

Evaluation
Measures

Quantitative Measure(s)

Qualitative Measure(s)

Method(s)

Data Source(s)

• Perceptions of the
PLEDCO Board
What activities took
place to make this
program happen?

• Partnership between
Beaver River CF and
PLEDCO
• Community Futures
promotion
• Meeting minutes
• Sources of funding
• PLEDCO promotion

• Perceptions of
PLEDCO staff
• Perceptions of clients
• Perceptions of
PLEDCO Board
• Perceptions of Beaver
River CF
• What did it take to
carry out the
programs?
• Collaboration efforts

• Interviews
• Data review

•
•
•
•

What did this
program produce?
(events, services,
physical outputs)

• Number of applications
received
• Number of applications
accepted
• Non-repayable
contributions provided
($)
• Further collaboration
opportunities with
Beaver River CF
• Number of new
businesses established
or expanded

• Perceptions of staff
(PLEDCO and Beaver
River CF) related to
the delivery of the
programs
• Did the message
reach the right
members of
participating
communities?
• Are PLEDCO
community members
aware of the
opportunities
available?
• Do clients find the
partnership with
Beaver River CF
beneficial?

• Interviews
• Data review

• PLEDCO staff
• Beaver River CF
- CEO
• Town officials
• Financial
statements
• Annual reports

PLEDCO staff
PLEDCO Board
Clients
Beaver River CF
- CEO
• Annual reports
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Evaluation Area

Evaluation
Measures

Quantitative Measure(s)

Qualitative Measure(s)

Method(s)

Data Source(s)

How well did the
programs reach the
targeted population
in the PLEDCO
communities?

• Number of applications
received
• Number of applications
accepted
• Trends over the past 5
years

• Perceptions of staff
related to the delivery
of the programs
• Did the message
reach the right
members of each
community?
• Are PLEDCO
community members
aware of the
opportunities
available?

• Interviews
• Data review

• PLEDCO staff
• Town officials
• Annual reports

What have been the
impacts of this
program?

• Entrepreneurs, new
businesses or business
expansions in the
PLEDCO communities

• Are PLEDCO
community members
taking advantage of
the program?
• Perceptions of
PLEDCO community
members on how well
these programs are
reaching the
community
• Client satisfaction
• Increased
awareness/interest in
entrepreneurship or
business expansion
• Changes that have
occurred in the
knowledge, attitudes
and personal

• Interviews
• Data review

•
•
•
•

PLEDCO staff
PLEDCO Board
Town officials
Annual reports
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Evaluation Area

Evaluation
Measures

Quantitative Measure(s)

Qualitative Measure(s)

Method(s)

Data Source(s)

behaviors in the
PLEDCO communities

Primary Producer
Incentive
Program

Is entrepreneurship
improving in each of
the PLEDCO
communities?

• Trends in each
community related to
new businesses,
business expansion or
entrepreneurship

• Do community
members/town
officials see changes
or trends in new
businesses

• Interviews

• Community
members
• Town officials

What resources are
used to carry out
this program?

•
•
•
•

Number of staff
Operating costs
Materials
Time dedicated to
program

• Perceptions of staff
related to the delivery
of the programs
• Perception of Beaver
River CF
• Perceptions of the
PLEDCO Board

• Interviews
• Data review

• PLEDCO staff
• PLEDCO Board
• Beaver River CF
- CEO
• Annual reports

What activities took
place to make this
program happen?

• Partnership between
Beaver River CF and
PLEDCO
• Community Futures
promotion
• Meeting minutes
• Sources of funding
• PLEDCO promotion

• Perceptions of
PLEDCO staff
• Perceptions of clients
• Perceptions of
PLEDCO Board
• Perceptions of Beaver
River CF
• What did it take to
carry out the
programs?
• Collaboration efforts

• Interviews
• Data review

•
•
•
•

What did this
program produce?
(events, services,
physical outputs)

• Number of applications
received
• Number of applications
accepted

• Perceptions of staff
(PLEDCO and Beaver
River CF) related to
the delivery of the
programs

• Interviews
• Data review

• PLEDCO staff
• Beaver River CF
- CEO
• Town officials
• Financial
statements

PLEDCO staff
PLEDCO Board
Clients
Beaver River CF
- CEO
• Annual reports
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Evaluation Area

Evaluation
Measures

Quantitative Measure(s)

Qualitative Measure(s)

Method(s)

Data Source(s)

• Non-repayable
contribution provided
($)
• Further collaboration
opportunities with
Beaver River CF
• Number of new
businesses established
or expanded in the
commercial fishing,
trapping and wild rice
harvesting industries

• Did the message
reach the right
members of
participating
communities?
• Are PLEDCO
community members
aware of the
opportunities
available?
• Do clients find the
partnership with
Beaver River CF
beneficial?

How well did the
programs reach the
targeted population
in the PLEDCO
communities?

• Number of applications
received
• Number of applications
accepted
• Trends over the past 5
years

• Perceptions of staff
related to the delivery
of the programs
• Did the message
reach the right
members of each
community?
• Are PLEDCO
community members
aware of the
opportunities
available?

• Interviews
• Data review

• PLEDCO staff
• Town officials
• Annual reports

What have been the
impacts of this
program?

• Entrepreneurs, new
businesses or business
expansions in the
PLEDCO communities
(commercial fishing,

• Are PLEDCO
community members
taking advantage of
the program?
• Perceptions of
PLEDCO community

• Interviews

•
•
•
•

• Annual reports

PLEDCO staff
PLEDCO Board
Town officials
Annual reports
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Evaluation Area

Evaluation
Measures

Quantitative Measure(s)
trapping and wild rice
harvesting industries)

Scholarship
Program

Qualitative Measure(s)

Method(s)

Data Source(s)

members on how well
these programs are
reaching the
community
• Client satisfaction
• Increased
awareness/interest in
entrepreneurship or
business expansion
• Changes that have
occurred in the
knowledge, attitudes
and personal
behaviors in the
PLEDCO communities

Are there increased
businesses or an
expansion of
businesses in the
commercial fishing,
trapping and wild
rice harvesting
industries?

• Trends in each
community related to
new businesses or
business expansion in
the commercial fishing,
trapping and wild rice
harvesting industries

• Do community
members/town
officials see changes
or trends in new
businesses

• Interviews

• Town officials

What resources are
used to carry out
this program?

•
•
•
•

• Perceptions of staff
related to the delivery
of the programs
• Perceptions of the
PLEDCO Board

• Interviews
• Data review

• PLEDCO staff
• PLEDCO Board
• Annual reports

What activities took
place to make this
program happen?

• Meeting minutes
• Social Media
• Sources of funding

• Perceptions of
PLEDCO staff
• Perceptions of
students

• Interviews
• Data review

• PLEDCO staff
• PLEDCO Board
• Scholarship
recipients

Number of staff
Operating costs
Materials
Time dedicated to
program
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Evaluation Area

Evaluation
Measures

Quantitative Measure(s)

Qualitative Measure(s)

Method(s)

Data Source(s)

• School outreach

• Perceptions of
PLEDCO Board
• What did it take to
carry out the
programs?

What did this
program produce?
(events, services,
physical outputs)

• Number of applications
• Number of scholarships
awarded

• Student perceptions
of the program
• PLEDCO staff
perceptions
• Are students aware of
the program and is it
targeting the students
of PLEDCO
communities

• Interviews
• Data review
•

• PLEDCO staff
• Town officials
• Financial
statements
• Annual reports

How well did the
programs reach the
targeted population
in the PLEDCO
communities?

• Promotion efforts over
the last 5 years
• Trends in applications
received and awarded
over the last five years

• Perceptions of staff
related to the delivery
of the programs
• Did the message
reach the students in
each community?
• Are PLEDCO
community students
aware of the
opportunities
available?

• Interviews
• Data review

• PLEDCO staff
• Town officials
• Annual reports

What have been the
impacts of this
program?

• Impact on grade 12
students furthering
their education

• Perceptions of
students
• Perceptions of
PLEDCO staff
• Perceptions of
PLEDCO Board

• Interviews
• Data review

• PLEDCO staff
• Students
• Internal reports

• Annual reports
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APPENDIX B – DOCUMENTS REVIEWED AS PART OF THE EVALUATION
The following is a list of electronic documentation received from PLEDCO.
File Name

Document Name

Description

5 Year Brd Honoraria and Travel

Five Year Board Honoraria and Travel

As the name indicates

2015-11-24- ED REPORT PACKAGE

Executive Director’s Report Package
2015-11-24

As the name indicates

Applicant Checklist

Application Checklist for Economic
Development Assistance

As the name indicates

Appraisal – Blank

Performance Analysis/Review –
Executive Director

Performance review form for Executive
Director

Beauval – Year-To-DateDisbursements

Beauval Disbursements

As the name indicates

Booth Bay – June 8-16

PLEDCO Economic Development
Program Application Checklist

As the name indicates

Canada Agreement – 459269

Canada – Primrose Lake Community
Economic Development Agreement

As the name indicates

Cole Bay – Year-To-Date
Disbursements

Cole Bay Disbursements

As the name indicates

Copy of Application Overview

Application Overview

Application overview provided to the
PLEDCO Board outlining new applications

ED Report June 12

Executive Director Report June 12th,
2017

As the name indicates

Feb 6th-17 Agenda

Regular Board Meeting of the Primrose
Lake Economic Development
Corporation

PLEDCO Board meeting agenda

Funding Agreements

Primary Producer Incentive Program /
Business Incentive Program

Overview of the fees paid to BRCFDC to
support programs

Future Study Ideas

Future Study Ideas

Future ideas for studies to be conducted by
PLEDCO

Ilealacrosse – Year-To-Date
Disbursements

Ile A La Crosse Disbursements

As the name indicates

Jan 19-16 – Regular Meeting – Draft

Regular Board Meeting of the Primrose
Lake Economic Development
Corporation

PLEDCO meeting minutes for January 19,
2016

Jans Bay – Year-To-Date
Disbursements

Jans Bay Disbursements

As the name indicates

Major Projects

2012-2017 Big Projects with Major
Clients

As the name indicates
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File Name

Document Name

Description

Mayor

Municipality Contact Information

Contact information for the Mayors of Cole
Bay, Jans Bay, Beauval and Ile a la Crosse

PLEDCO – Administration Procedures
Policy – FINAL

Administration Procedures Policy

As the name indicates

PLEDCO Board & Staff

Primrose Economic Development
Corporation Board & Staff

Contact information for PLEDCO board and
staff

PLEDCO – Economic Development
Assistant Policy Procedures – Apr 13th,
2017 – Final

Economic Development Assistance
Policy & Procedures Guide

As the name indicates

PLEDCO – Personnel Policies final

Personnel Policy

As the name indicates

PLEDCO – Scholarship Application
Form – FINAL

Scholarship Application Form

As the name indicates

PLEDCO Meeting Minutes August 15
2012

Primrose Lake Economic Development
Corporation Minutes of Regular Board
Meeting

As the name indicates

PLEDCO Reg. Mtg. Minutes Jan.21,
2014

Primrose Lake Economic Development
Corporation Regular Board Meeting

As the name indicates

PLEDCO Regional – Year-To-Date
Disbursements

Regional Disbursements

As the name indicates

PLEDCO Studies in the last 5 years

PLEDCO Studies in the last 5 years

As the name indicates

PPIP and BIP Synopsis

PPIP and BIP Synopsis

As the name indicates

PRC Year-To-Date-Disbursements

PRC Disbursements

As the name indicates

Sask Agreement – 459269

Saskatchewan – Primrose Lake
Community Economic Development
Agreement

As the name indicates

Stakeholders to Contact

Primrose Lake Economic Development
Corporation Stakeholders to Contact

As the name indicates

Summary Reports

Summary Reports

PPIP sector and community project totals,
dollars lent and grants committed, year 2
summary of program
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APPENDIX C – PROGRAM ELIGIBILITY
Economic Development Assistance Program
Applicants for PLEDCO’s Economic Development Assistance Program must be an individual, business or
organization normally resident or operating its office and business premises in the communities of Jans Bay,
Cole Bay, Beauval and Île-à-la-Crosse. Any person who is 18 years of age or older and who is entitled to vote
in a civic election for one of the Primrose Lake communities is considered a “resident”. The Board uses its
authority, expertise and discretion to determine eligibility for any questionable circumstances.15
PLEDCO considers projects related to:16
•
•
•
•
•
•

Business development
Economic development
Strategic infrastructure
Training
Education
Job creation

A project must contribute to sustainable economic development for the community or region and result in
incremental activity to the local economy. Requests for assistance related to normal operating costs or
equipment replacement are normally ineligible for assistance.
Applications from a variety of sectors are considered, including:
•
•
•
•
•

Retail and service
Tourism
Transportation
Resource industries
Business development organizations

PLEDCO considers providing assistance for the following applications:
•
•
•
•

Request for a contribution to the capital assets or working capital costs of a business start-up or
expansion.
Request for a contribution to the equity requirement of a business start-up or expansion.
Request for assistance related to a marketing, business improvement, business and entrepreneurial
skills, skills recruitment or business planning project.
Request for assistance related to a strategic economic infrastructure project.

15

http://pledco.ca/index.php/programs/availableprograms, accessed May 29, 2017.
The remainder of this section was sourced largely verbatim from Economic Development Assistance Policy & Procedures Guide,
Primrose Lake Economic Development Corporation, April 8, 2017.
16
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•
•

Request for assistance related to a project that improves educational opportunities for area
residents.
Projects for planning and development related to enhanced regional business development.

Primary Producer Incentive Program
The Primary Producer Incentive Program, available through BRCF, is for community members of Jans Bay,
Cole Bay, Beauval and Île-à-la-Crosse. The following items are eligible under the Program:17
•
•
•

Supplies and equipment for fishing, trapping and wild rice harvesting.
Snowmobiles for commercial fishing will be financed based on historical earnings of the activity.
Snowmobiles/quads for trapping and quads for wild rice harvesting will need to reflect adequate
income to repay the loan. Income can also be from sources outside the primary production activity.
Loans for quads/snowmobiles under a trapping/wild rice harvesting loan are capped at $5,000.

In order to be considered for the program, applicants are required to provide BRCF with the following:
•
•
•
•

A social insurance number
Two pieces of identification (one that includes a date of birth)
Quotes for required equipment
A copy of a primary production license (lease and/or license)

Business Incentive Program
The Business Incentive Program, available through BRCF, is for community members of Jans Bay, Cole Bay,
Beauval and Île-à-la-Crosse. Anyone who applies to BRCF for a small loan of up to $35,000 to start up a
business is eligible for PLEDCO’s non-repayable contribution, provided the borrower pays their portion of the
loan first.18
The application and approval process is outlined below:
•
•
•
•
•

17
18

The client approaches PLEDCO or BRCF to access the program and confirmation is received from
PLEDCO that the client is eligible.
The client receives the Business package and BRCF works with the client to develop a business plan
to decide if the plan is viable.
BRCF will assist the client in the loan process and to unsure the client understands the program and
their commitment to the process.
The loan application and Equifax search are completed and if approved funding will be disbursed.
Funds will be disbursed directly to the suppliers and sellers.
In the case of serial numbered goods, they will be registered with the PPR.

http://pledco.ca/index.php/programs/availableprograms/primary-producer-incentive-program, accessed May 30, 2017.
http://pledco.ca/index.php/programs/availableprograms/menu-bip, accessed May 30, 2017.
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•

BRCF will invoice PLEDCO on a quarterly basis with an updated report on each client.

Scholarship Program
Under the Scholarship Program, eligible students include:
•
•

Current grade 12 graduates in Beauval, Cole Bay, Île-à-la-Crosse and Jans Bay who have been lifelong residents.
Students (life-long residents from any of the four impacted communities) who have exited in the past
from grades 10, 11 or 12 and are now attending post-secondary programs or are involved in an
apprenticeship program.

PLEDCO Five-Year Evaluation: 2012/13 – 2016/17

51

APPENDIX D – KEY INFORMANT INTERVIEWEES
The following is a list of stakeholder interviews conducted by MNP.
•

Kevin Raymond – Executive Director, PLEDCO

•

Bonnie Morin – Administrative Assistant, PLEDCO

•

Darrel Burnouf – Primrose Resource Corporation

•

Duane Favel – Mayor, Northern Village of Ile a la Crosse

•

Georgina Couillonneur – Director, PLEDCO Board Director

•

Gerald Roy – Saskatchewan Government Ex-Officio Director

•

Jansen Corrigal – President, PLEDCO Board of Directors

•

Maggie Natomagon – Vice President, PLEDCO Board of Directors

•

Mark Nickolson – Western Economic Development

•

Myrna Bouvier – Secretary/Treasurer, PLEDCO Board of Directors

•

Nick Diagneault – Mayor, Northern Village of Beauval Mayor/Beauval Development Incorporated

•

Robert Yew – Director, PLEDCO Board of Directors

•

Wendel Desjarlais – Director, PLEDCO Board of Directors/Sakitawak Development Corporation

•

Napoleon Gardiner – CEO, Northwet Communities

•

Patty Shaw – CEO (Retired), Beaver River Community Futures

•

Ty Rutzki – CEO, Beaver River Community Futures

PLEDCO Five-Year Evaluation: 2012/13 – 2016/17

52

APPENDIX E – PLEDCO MUNICIPAL DISBURSEMENTS
The following table outlines PLEDCO disbursements for the community of Beauval during the evaluation
period. Please note that applicant details have been removed due to client confidentiality.
Northern Village of Beauval Disbursements (2012/13-2016/17)
Date

Approved ($)

Disbursed ($)

Fund

July 2012

2,500

2,500

CAN-INFRA

August 2012

5,000

5,000

CAN-ECDEV

August 2012

3,000

3,000

Not Listed

September 2012

10,000

10,000

CAN-ECDEV

January 2013

5,000

5,000

CAN-ECDEV

January 2013

13,000

6,504.32

CAN-ECDEV

January 2013

5,219.50

CAN-ECDEV

January 2013

237.51

CAN-ECDEV

3,080

CAN-ECDEV

January 2013

1,920

CAN-ECDEV

March 2013

1,000

CAN-ECDEV

January 2013

5,000

March 2013

3,300

3,300

SK-ECDEV

March 2013

4,500

4,500

CAN-ECDEV

March 2013

3,000

3,000

CAN-ECDEV

April 2013

10,000

10,000

CAN-ECDEV

August 2013

15,000

15,000

CAN-INFRA

September 2012

5,000

5,000

CAN-ECDEV

October 2013

27,000

27,000

CAN-INFRA

January 2014

-

4,000

CAN-INFRA

2,631.

CAN-ECDEV

7,886.50

SK-ECDEV

March 2014

700

SK-ECDEV

March 2014

157.81

SK-ECDEV

March 2014

5,000

SK-ECDEV

April 2014

1,119.81

CAN-ECDEV

May 2014

1,542.19

CAN-ECDEV

July 2014

656.25

CAN-ECDEV

August 2014

1,542.19

CAN-ECDEV

February 2014
February 2014

4,848.86

July 2014

2,500

-

Cancelled

July 2014

33,513

33,513

CAN-INFRA

July 2014

28,405

28,405

CAN-INFRA
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July 2014

1,750

-

Cancelled

September 2014

50,000

50,000

CAN-ECDEV

September 2014

2,729.70

2,729.70

SK-ECDEV

August 2014

10,000

10,000

CAN-ECDEV

November 2014

2,000

-

SK-ECDEV

April 2015

3,000

3,000

CAN-ECDEV

May 2015

125,000

75,000

CAN-ECDEV

May 2015

125,000

50,000

CAN-INFRA

June 2015

5,000

5,000

CAN-INFRA

May 2016

13,330

13,330

CAN-INFRA

May 2016

3,500

3,500

SK-ECDEV

June 2016

20,000

20,000

SK-ECDEV

November 2016

4,875

4,875

CAN-INFRA

March 2017

25,000

25,000

CAN-INFRA

Total

$446,752.37

$450,851.36
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The following table outlines PLEDCO disbursements for the community of Île-à-la-Crosse during the
evaluation period. Please note that applicant details have been removed due to client confidentiality.
Northern Village of Île-à-la-Crosse Disbursements (2012/13-2016/17)
Date

Approved ($)

Disbursed ($)

Fund

May 2012

-

1,000

CAN-ECDEV

June 2012

3,500

2,500

CAN-INFRA

July 2012

6,250

6,250

CAN-ECDEV

November 2012

4,500

2,803.32

CAN-ECDEV

November 2012

-

5,197

CAN-ECDEV

November 2012

-

1,474.93

CAN-ECDEV

December 2012

-

87.36

CAN-ECDEV

December 2012

-

3,214.99

CAN-ECDEV

December 2012

-

1,696.68

CAN-ECDEV

January 2013

10,000

10,000

CAN-ECDEV

February 2013

10,000

10,000

CAN-ECDEV

February 2013

5,800

5,800

CAN-ECDEV

February 2013

3,300

3,300

CAN-ECDEV

February 2013

5,000

5,000

CAN-ECDEV

February 2013

58,190

7,590

CAN-INFRA

February 2013

-

50,600*

CAN-INFRA

April 2013

4,000

3,000

SK-ECDEV

April 2013

-

1,000

SK-ECDEV

June 2013

-

680.48

CAN-ECDEV

10,000

10,000

CAN-ECDEV

August 2013

550

550

CAN-ECDEV

August 2013

-

5,422

SK-ECDEV

October 2013

-

27,699

CAN-INFRA

January 2014

10,000

5,250

CAN-INFRA

January 2014

-

3,350

CAN-INFRA

June 2014

57,501

57,501

CAN-INFRA

July 2014

20,000

10,000

CAN-ECDEV

July 2014

20,000

10,000

CAN-INFRA

July 2014

100,000

100,000

CAN-INFRA

September 2014

-

5,000

CAN-ECDEV

November 2014

50,000

50,000

CAN-INFRA

December 2014

40,000

40,000

CAN-ECDEV

July 2013
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December 2014

4,889.06

1,933.63

CAN-ECDEV

December 2014

476.65

CAN-ECDEV

December 2014

2,246.78

CAN-ECDEV

5,000

2,625

SK-ECDEV

April 2015

2,917.76

2,917.76

CAN-ECDEV

June 2015

50,000

50,000

CAN-INFRA

October 2015

8,663

8,663

CAN-INFRA

October 2015

37,747

37,747

CAN-ECDEV

February 2017

25,000

25,000

CAN-INFRA

$532,807.40

$576,577.38

March 2015

Total
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The following table outlines PLEDCO disbursements for the community of Jans Bay during the evaluation
period. Please note that applicant details have been removed due to client confidentiality.
Northern Hamlet of Jans Bay Disbursements (2012/13-2016/17)
Date

Approved ($)

Disbursed ($)

Fund

June 2012

2,700

2,700

CAN-INFRA

August 2012

3,750

3,750

CAN-ECDEV

January 2013

3,600

3,579

CAN-ECDEV

January 2013

65,000

62,189

CAN-ECDEV

January 2013

1,480

CAN-ECDEV

January 2013

300

CAN-ECDEV

42,634

SK-ECDEV

1,031

CAN-ECDEV

3,100

SK-ECDEV

March 2013

3,000

SK-ECDEV

March 2013

2,500

SK-ECDEV

9,600

CAN-ECDEV

June 2013

5,859.88

CAN-ECDEV

May 2013

487.50

CAN-ECDEV

October 2013

1,280

CAN-ECDEV

October 2013

15,441

CAN-ECDEV

February 2013

42,634

February 2013
March 2013

9,600

June 2013

18,000

October 2013

-

1,146

CAN-INFRA

October 2013

2,500

1,289.94

CAN-ECDEV

February 2014

20,000

20,000

CAN-INFRA

7,783

7,783

CAN-INFRA

150,000

150,000

CAN-INFRA

February 2015

18,100

18,100

CAN-INFRA

March 2015

11,100.

11,000

CAN-ECDEV

October 2015

50,000

50,000

CAN-ECDEV

1,102.76

-

SK-ECDEV

$415,869.59

$418,250.15

June 2014
August 2014

September 2016
Total
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The following table outlines PLEDCO disbursements for the community of Cole Bay during the evaluation
period. Please note that applicant details have been removed due to client confidentiality.
Northern Hamlet of Cole Bay Disbursements (2012/13-2016/17)
Date

Approved ($)

Disbursed ($)

Fund

May 2012

4,000

4,000

CAN-INFRA

May 2012

2,815

2,814.57

CAN-ECDEV

June 2012

15,000

4,293.75

CAN-INFRA

August 2012

3,750

3,750

CAN-ECDEV

August 2012

4,000

4,000

CAN-ECDEV

August 2012

5,000

5,000

CAN-INFRA

August 2012

25,900

12,345.32

CAN-INFRA

13,428.81

CAN-INFRA

October 2012
March 2013

5,000

10,000

SK-ECDEV

March 2013

67,825

63,801.59

CAN-INFRA

3,452.84

CAN-INFRA

71,500

CAN-INFRA

April 2013

125.87

CAN-INFRA

April 2013

3,063.18

CAN-INFRA

7,500

SK-ECDEV

10,470.56

CAN-INFRA

March 2013
March 2013

71,500

June 2013

7,500

August 2013
October 2013

10,000

10,000

CAN-INFRA

April 2014

45,000

45,000

CAN-INFRA

1,231.40

CAN-INFRA

June 2014
December 2014

30,000

CAN-ECDEV

January 2015

8,960.30

CAN-ECDEV

January 2015

1,087.23

CAN-ECDEV

January 2015

5,990.84

CAN-ECDEV

January 2015

7,500

CAN-ECDEV

November 2014

4,000

4,000

CAN-ECDEV

November 2014

1,750

1,750

CAN-ECDEV

February 2015

28,100

10,000

CAN-INFRA

May 2015

50,000

50,000

CAN-ECDEV

9,725

-

CAN-INFRA

November 2015

14,828

-

CAN-INFRA

June 2016

15,750

15,750

CAN-ECDEV

$421,443

$380,816.26

October 2015

Total
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APPENDIX F – PLEDCO AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Primrose Lake Economic Development Corporation
Financial Statements
March 31, 2016

Primrose Lake Economic Development Corporation
Contents
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Management’s Responsibility

To the Members of Primrose Lake Economic Development Corporation:

Management is responsible for the preparation and presentation of the accompanying financial statements, including responsibility for
significant accounting judgments and estimates in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations. This
responsibility includes selecting appropriate accounting principles and methods, and making decisions affecting the measurement of
transactions in which objective judgment is required.

In discharging its responsibilities for the integrity and fairness of the financial statements, management designs and maintains the
necessary accounting systems and related internal controls to provide reasonable assurance that transactions are authorized, assets
are safeguarded and financial records are properly maintained to provide reliable information for the preparation of financial statements.

The Board of Directors is composed entirely of Directors who are neither management nor employees of the Corporation. The Board is
responsible for overseeing management in the performance of its financial reporting responsibilities.

The Board fulfils these

responsibilities by reviewing the financial information prepared by management and discussing relevant matters with management, and
external auditors. The Board is also responsible for appointing the Corporation’s external auditors.

MNP LLP is appointed by the Board to audit the financial statements and report directly to the Members of Primrose Lake Economic
Development Corporation; their report follows. The external auditors have full and free access to, and meet periodically and separately
with, both the Board and management to discuss their audit findings.

September 8, 2016

Executive Director

Independent Auditors’ Report

To the Members of Primrose Lake Economic Development Corporation:
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Primrose Lake Economic Development Corporation which comprise the
statement of financial position as at March 31, 2016, and the statements of operations and changes in fund balances and cash flows for
the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with Canadian
accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable
the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
Auditors’ Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance
with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The
procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Primrose Lake Economic
Development Corporation as at March 31, 2016 and the results of its operations, changes in fund balances and its cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations.

Saskatoon, Saskatchewan
September 8, 2016

Chartered Professional Accountants

800-119 4th Ave S, Saskatoon, Saskatchewan S7K 5X2, Phone (306) 665-6766, 1-877-500-0778

Primrose Lake Economic Development Corporation
Statement of Financial Position
As at March 31, 2016

Operating

Restricted Investment Funds

Fund

CED

CEI

SED

2016
Total

2015
Total

48,141

134,433

259,358

99,593

541,525

175,600

1,385

-

-

-

1,385

1,385

182,543

308,113

304,596

97,630

892,882

1,132,579

(118,168)

29,517

55,000

33,651

-

-

10,000

-

-

-

10,000

10,000

123,901

472,063

618,954

230,874

1,445,792

1,319,564

10,289

-

-

-

10,289

17,765

-

312,735

179,088

105,595

597,418

240,160

10,289

312,735

179,088

105,595

607,707

257,925

-

159,328

439,866

125,279

724,473

933,459

113,612

-

-

-

113,612

128,180

113,612

159,328

439,866

125,279

838,085

1,061,639

123,901

472,063

618,954

230,874

1,445,792

1,319,564

Assets
Current
Cash
Prepaid expenses
Due from Primrose Lake Economic
Development Trust (Note 3)
Inter-fund
Term deposit (Note 4)

Liabilities
Current
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Grants payable

Fund balances
Restricted (Note 5)
Unrestricted

Approved on behalf of the Board:

Director

Director

1

Primrose Lake Economic Development Corporation
Statement of Operations and Changes in Fund Balances
For the year ended March 31, 2016
Operating Fund

Restricted Investment Funds

____

2016
Total

2015
Total

-

-

330

505

330

505

383,697 380,501 130,537

894,735 1,135,217

-

-

502,393 281,451 121,334

905,178

829,095

85,719

85,035

-

-

-

-

-

Travel and meetings

68,341

68,692

-

-

-

-

-

Professional fees

25,836

28,068

-

-

-

-

-

CED

CEI

SED

2016
Total

2015
Total

Revenues
Trust distribution (Note 3)
Interest income

383,113 379,596 130,173
584

905

364

892,882 1,132,579
1,853

2,638

Expenses
Grants
Wages and benefits

-

-

-

-

16,000

16,000

18,000

Rent

6,000

6,000

-

-

-

-

-

Office

3,822

2,033

-

-

-

-

-

Telephone

3,527

3,488

-

-

-

-

-

Insurance

1,975

1,975

-

-

-

-

-

Advertising and promotions

1,589

2,936

-

-

-

-

-

632

264

-

-

-

-

-

-

7,489

-

-

-

-

-

197,441

205,980

502,393 281,451 137,334

921,178

847,095

(197,111)

(205,475)

(6,797)

(26,443)

288,122

182,543

215,768

(75,000) (75,000) (32,543)

(182,543)

(215,768)

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over expenses
Fund balances, beginning of year

(14,568)
128,180

10,293
117,887

(193,696)
24,050 (39,340)
353,024 415,816 164,619

(208,986)
933,459

72,354
861,105

Fund balances, end of year

113,612

128,180

159,328 439,866 125,279

724,473

933,459

Scholarships

Bank charges
Grant repayment

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over expenses
before inter-fund transfers
Inter-fund transfers (Note 6)

2

(118,696)

99,050

Primrose Lake Economic Development Corporation
Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended March 31, 2016

Restricted Investment Funds
Operating
Fund

CED

CEI

SED

2016
Total

2015
Total

(14,568) (193,696)

24,050

(39,340)

(223,554)

82,647

Cash provided by (used for) the following activities:
Operating activities
Excess (deficiency) of revenues over expenses
Changes in working capital accounts:
Accounts receivable

-

-

-

-

-

12,917

Prepaid expenses

-

-

-

-

-

500

(7,476)

-

-

-

(7,476)

1,404

-

203,575

89,088

64,595

357,258

122,659

(22,044)

9,879

113,138

25,255

126,228

220,127

8,225

94,565

112,234

24,673

239,697

(638,275)

43,410

20,000

(45,000)

(18,410)

-

-

Increase (decrease) in cash

29,591

124,444

180,372

31,518

365,925

(418,148)

Cash, beginning of year

18,550

9,989

78,986

68,075

175,600

593,748

Cash, end of year

48,141

134,433

259,358

99,593

541,525

175,600

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Grants payable

Investing activities
Due from Primrose Lake Economic Development
Trust (net)
Financing activities
Change in inter-fund accounts (net)
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Primrose Lake Economic Development Corporation
Notes to Financial Statements
As at March 31, 2016
1.

Incorporation and nature of the corporation
Primrose Lake Economic Development Corporation (the “Corporation”) was incorporated on February 14, 2006 in the Province
of Saskatchewan under the Non-Profit Corporations Act, 1995. The Corporation has been established by the northern
municipalities of Beauval, Cole Bay, Ile-a-la-Crosse and Jans Bay (“Primrose Lake Communities”).
The Corporation was established to be the beneficiary of the Primrose Lake Economic Development Trust Agreement (the
“Trust Agreement”) dated June 17, 2007. As the beneficiary of the Trust Agreement the Corporation is to support and advance
economic development for its communities and membership through management, utilization and investment of the annual
income it receives from a trust fund. The trust fund was established from a $15,000,000 settlement with Canada and a
$4,500,000 settlement with Saskatchewan. The Canada portion was equally invested ($7,500,000 each) into the Canada
Economic Development Trust Account and the Canada Economic Infrastructure Trust Account. Upon settlement, $2,000,000 of
the Saskatchewan portion was allocated to the Elders Economic Initiatives and has been spent in prior years. The remaining
$2,500,000 is being maintained in the Saskatchewan Economic Development Trust Account.
The trust accounts are being held and managed by the Primrose Lake Economic Development Trust (the “Trust”). The annual
income is allocated to the restricted investment funds of the Corporation, and the use of the annual income is governed by the
following agreements:
1.
2.
3.
4.

Canada-Primrose Lake Community Economic Development Agreement
Saskatchewan-Primrose Lake Community Economic Development Agreement
Primrose Lake Economic Development Trust Agreement
Organizational Bylaw of the Primrose Lake Economic Development Corporation

Basis of presentation
The Primrose Lake Economic Development Agreements with Canada and Saskatchewan refer to the allocation and use of the
annual income from the Trust. In order to ensure observance of limitations placed on the use of the annual income available to
the Corporation, the accounts are maintained on a fund accounting basis. Accordingly, resources are classified for accounting
and reporting purposes into the following funds:
Operating Fund and the Restricted Investment Funds - Canada Economic Development Initiatives Fund, Canada Economic
Infrastructure Initiatives Fund, and Saskatchewan Economic Development Initiatives Fund.
The Trust is not controlled by the Board of Directors of the Corporation and has not been included in the financial statements of
the Corporation.
The objectives of the funds maintained are:
Restricted investment funds
Canada Economic Development Initiatives
The Canada Economic Development (“CED”) fund is available for projects or programs which are intended and expected to
create, produce, or promote new or increased economic activity or opportunities in the nature of business enterprises, industry,
professions and trades, scholarships, commercial resource development, employment, tourism, transportation, communications
and traditional economies for the long-term benefit of the Primrose Lake Communities.
Canada Economic Infrastructure Initiatives
The Canada Economic Infrastructure (“CEI”) fund is available for projects or programs which are intended and expected to result
in new or improved infrastructure works within or connecting to the Primrose Lake Area that will facilitate or promote any new or
increased economic activity for the long-term benefit of the Primrose Lake Communities. Eligible projects or programs under the
CEI fund shall include roads and highways, public transport service facilities, public or industrial water or sewer service facilities,
electronic telecommunication service facilities, pipelines, trades and other employment skills training facilities, any specialized
infrastructure for major industrial developments and any other buildings, facilities and physical structures of a like nature.
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Primrose Lake Economic Development Corporation
Notes to Financial Statements
As at March 31, 2016
1.

Incorporation and nature of the corporation (continued)
Saskatchewan Economic Development Initiatives
The Saskatchewan Economic Development (“SED”) fund is available for projects or programs which are intended and expected
to create, produce or promote new or increased economic activity or opportunities in the nature of business enterprises,
industry, professions and trades, scholarships, commercial resource development, employment, tourism, transportation,
communications and traditional economies for the long-term benefit of the Primrose Lake Communities.
Operating Fund
The Operating Fund accounts for the Corporation’s operating costs and general revenue. This fund reports unrestricted
resources and restricted operating grants. As per the Canada-Primrose Lake Community Economic Development Agreement,
the Corporation can draw from the annual income generated by the federal portion of the trust fund an amount for operating
costs up to the greater of $175,000 or 15% of the annual income generated by the federal portion of the trust fund. Pursuant to
the Saskatchewan-Primrose Lake Community Economic Development Agreement, the Corporation can draw from the annual
income generated by the provincial portion of the trust fund an amount for operating costs that shall not exceed 25% of the
annual income. Draws from the annual income are reflected as transfers to the Operating Fund from the Restricted Investment
Funds.

2.

Significant accounting policies
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations
and include the following significant accounting policies:
Financial instruments
The Corporation recognizes its financial instruments when the Corporation becomes party to the contractual provisions of the
financial instrument. All financial instruments are initially recorded at their fair value, including financial assets and liabilities
originated and issued in a related party transaction with management.
At initial recognition, the Corporation may irrevocably elect to subsequently measure any financial instrument at fair value. The
Corporation has not made any such election.
The Corporation subsequently measures investments in equity instruments quoted in an active market at fair value. Fair value is
determined by published price quotations. All other financial assets and liabilities are subsequently measured at amortized cost.
Transaction costs and financing fees directly attributable to the origination, acquisition, issuance or assumption of financial
instruments subsequently measured at fair value are immediately recognized in the excess (deficiency) of revenues over
expenses for the current period. Conversely, transaction costs and financing fees are added to the carrying amount for those
financial instruments subsequently measured at amortized cost or cost.
Financial asset impairment
The Corporation assesses impairment of all of its financial assets measured at cost or amortized cost. When there is an
indication of impairment, the Corporation determines whether it has resulted in a significant adverse change in the expected
timing or amount of future cash flows during the year. If so, the Corporation reduces the carrying amount of any impaired
financial assets to the highest of: the present value of cash flows expected to be generated by holding the assets; the amount
that could be realized by selling the assets; and the amount expected to be realized by exercising any rights to collateral held
against those assets. Any impairment, which is not considered temporary, is included in current year excess (deficiency) of
revenues over expenses.
The Corporation reverses impairment losses on financial assets when there is a decrease in impairment and the decrease can
be objectively related to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognized. The amount of the reversal is recognized
in the excess (deficiency) of revenues over expenses in the year the reversal occurs.
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Primrose Lake Economic Development Corporation
Notes to Financial Statements
As at March 31, 2016
2.

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Revenue recognition
Trust distribution is recognized as distributions of annual income are declared by the Trust. Restricted operating grant revenue
is recognized in the year in which the related expenses are incurred.
Use of estimates
The preparation of financial statements in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations,
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amount of assets and liabilities and
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amount of revenues and
expenses during the reporting period. These estimates are reviewed periodically, and as adjustments become necessary, they
are reported in earnings in the period in which they become known.

3.

Due from Primrose Lake Economic Development Trust
Pursuant to the Trust Agreement, the “Annual Income” of the Trust shall be transferred to the beneficiary, Primrose Lake
Economic Development Corporation, to be used to promote economic development, investment in strategic infrastructure,
enhancement of economic viability and sustainability of the Primrose Lake area and to provide programs, services and other
benefits to residents of the Primrose Lake Communities.
The Trust has a December 31st fiscal year end.

Annual income allocation as of March 31

4.

2016

2015

892,882

1,132,579

Term deposit
Term deposit is comprised of a Bank of Montreal term investment earning interest at 1.15%, maturing December 2016. This has
been classified as current as the investment matures in the upcoming fiscal year.

5.

Fund balances externally restricted
Use of the Corporation’s fund balances is externally restricted by the terms contained within the Trust Agreement and its
agreements with Canada and Saskatchewan.
The Corporation’s fund balances are to be used in accordance with initiatives set out in the agreements (see Note 1).

6.

Inter-fund transfers
During the year, $75,000 (2015 - $87,500) from each of the CED and CEI funds was transferred to the operating fund. As well,
$32,543 (2015 - $40,768) which is 25% of the annual income allocation was transferred from the SED fund to the operating fund.
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Primrose Lake Economic Development Corporation
Notes to Financial Statements
As at March 31, 2016

7.

Financial instruments
The Corporation as part of its operations carries various forms of financial instruments. It is management’s opinion that the
Corporation is not exposed to significant interest, currency, credit, liquidity or other price risk arising from these financial
instruments except as otherwise disclosed.
Credit concentration
Financial instruments that potentially subject the Corporation to concentrations of credit risk are due from Primrose Lake
Economic Development Trust. Management believes the risk is limited since the amounts due are from a related party that has
maintained liquid assets to be able to make payment.
Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Corporation will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with financial liabilities.
The Corporation enters into transactions purchase goods and services on credit, for which repayment is required at various
maturity dates. The Corporation manages liquidity risk resulting from its accounts payable and accrued liabilities and grants
payable by maintaining liquid assets.
Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument might be adversely affected by a change in the interest rates.
Changes in market interest rates may have an effect on the cash flows associated with some financial assets and liabilities,
known as cash flow risk, and on the fair value of other financial assets or liabilities, known as price risk. The Corporation is
exposed to interest rate risk with respect to its term deposit. The term deposit has limited exposure to risk as the interest rate is
fixed.

8.

Economic dependence
The Corporation is economically dependent on the Primrose Lake Economic Development Trust to transfer “Annual Income”
pursuant to the Primrose Lake Economic Development Trust Agreement.
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Management’s Responsibility

To the Members of Primrose Lake Economic Development Corporation:

Management is responsible for the preparation and presentation of the accompanying financial statements, including responsibility for
significant accounting judgments and estimates in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations. This
responsibility includes selecting appropriate accounting principles and methods, and making decisions affecting the measurement of
transactions in which objective judgment is required.

In discharging its responsibilities for the integrity and fairness of the financial statements, management designs and maintains the
necessary accounting systems and related internal controls to provide reasonable assurance that transactions are authorized, assets
are safeguarded and financial records are properly maintained to provide reliable information for the preparation of financial statements.

The Board of Directors is composed entirely of Directors who are neither management nor employees of the Corporation. The Board is
responsible for overseeing management in the performance of its financial reporting responsibilities.

The Board fulfils these

responsibilities by reviewing the financial information prepared by management and discussing relevant matters with management, and
external auditors. The Board is also responsible for appointing the Corporation’s external auditors.

MNP LLP, an independent firm of Chartered Accountants, is appointed by the Board to audit the financial statements and report directly
to the Members of Primrose Lake Economic Development Corporation; their report follows. The external auditors have full and free
access to, and meet periodically and separately with, both the Board and management to discuss their audit findings.

Chief Executive Officer

Independent Auditors’ Report

To the Members of Primrose Lake Economic Development Corporation
Corporation:
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Primrose Lake Economic Development Corporation which comprise the
statement of financial position as at March 31, 201
2014, and the statements of operations and changes in fund balances and cash flows for
the year then ended,, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information
information.
Management’s Responsibility
sponsibility for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with Canadian
accounting standards for not-for-profit
profit organizations
organizations, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable
the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
Auditors’ Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial stateme
statements
nts based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance
with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan
pl and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The
procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgement, incl
including
uding the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expre
expressing
ssing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statement.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly in all material respects the financial position of Primrose Lake Economic
Development Corporation as at March 31, 201
2014 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Canadian accounting standards for not
not-for-profit organizations.

Saskatoon, Saskatchewan
August 12, 2014

th

800-119 4 Ave S, Saskatoon, Saskatchewan S7K 5X2, Phone (306) 665
665-6766, 1-877-500-0778

Chartered Accountants

Primrose Lake Economic Development Corporation
Statement of Financial Position
As at March 31, 2014

Operating

Restricted Investment Funds

Fund

CED

CEI

SED

March 31,
2014
Total

13,563

202,801

329,541

47,843

593,748

479,876

Accounts receivable

7,917

-

-

5,000

12,917

-

Prepaid expense

1,885

-

-

-

1,885

-

Due from Primrose Lake Economic
Development Trust (Note 3)

163,220

136,579

136,584

57,921

494,304

614,331

Inter-fund

(62,337)

49,444

10,000

2,893

-

-

124,248

388,824

476,125

113,657

1,102,854

1,094,207

10,000

-

-

-

10,000

10,000

134,248

388,824

476,125

113,657

1,112,854

1,104,207

16,361

-

-

-

16,361

15,516

-

5,000

102,501

10,000

117,501

-

16,361

5,000

102,501

10,000

133,862

15,516

-

383,824

373,624

103,657

861,105

972,111

117,887

-

-

-

117,887

116,580

117,887

383,824

373,624

113,657

978,992

1,088,691

134,248

388,824

476,125

113,657

1,112,854

1,104,207

March 31,
2013
Total

Assets
Current
Cash

Long-term
Term deposit (Note 4)

Liabilities
Current
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Grant payable

Fund balances
Restricted (Note 5)
Unrestricted

Approved by the Board:

Director

Director
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Primrose Lake Economic Development Corporation
Statement of Operations and Changes in Fund Balances
As at March 31, 2014
Operating Fund

2014
Total

Restricted Investment Funds____

CED

CEI

SED

2014
Total

2013
Total

- 211,579

2013
Total

Revenues
Trust distribution
Interest income

211,584

71,141

494,304

614,331

478

-

1,152

1,212

2,169

397

3,778

5,047

478

1,152 212,791

213,753

71,538

498,082

619,378

Expenses
-

-

93,302

269,022

34,479

396,803

616,351

Travel and meetings

71,977

56,074

-

-

-

-

11,754

Wages and benefits

67,836

80,976

-

-

-

-

-

Professional fees

26,274

63,881

-

-

-

-

9,569

Grants

-

-

-

-

19,500

19,500

17,000

Contract services

8,926

-

-

-

-

-

-

Rent

6,000

6,000

-

-

-

-

-

Telephone

4,472

3,948

-

-

-

-

-

Office

3,245

8,301

-

-

-

-

284

Bank charges

1,915

668

-

-

-

-

-

Miscellaneous

721

554

-

-

-

-

-

Insurance

590

-

-

-

-

-

-

191,956

220,402

93,302

269,022

53,979

416,303

654,958

(219,250) 119,489

(55,269)

17,559

81,779

(35,580)

(87,500)

(87,500)

(17,785)

(192,785)

(197,593)

(226) (111,006)

(233,173)

Scholarships

Excess (deficiency) of revenue over expenses
before inter-fund transfers
Inter-fund transfers (Note 6)
Excess (deficiency) of revenue over expenses

(191,478)
192,785

197,593

1,307

(21,657)

31,989 (142,769)

Fund balances, beginning of year

116,580

138,237 351,835

516,393 103,883

972,111 1,205,284

Fund balances, end of year

117,887

116,580 383,824

373,624 103,657

861,105

2

972,111

Primrose Lake Economic Development Corporation
Statement of Cash Flows
As at March 31, 2014

Restricted Investment Funds
Operating
Fund

CED

CEI

1,307

31,989

(142,769)

Accounts receivable

(7,917)

-

-

Prepaid expenses

(1,885)

-

-

2014
Total

2013
Total

(109,699)

(254,830)

(5,000)

(12,917)

14,430

-

(1,885)

-

SED

Cash provided by (used for) the following activities:
Operating activities
Excess (deficiency) of revenues over expenses

(226)

Changes in working capital accounts:

845

-

-

-

845

1,766

-

5,000

102,501

10,000

117,501

-

(7,650)

36,989

(40,268)

4,774

(6,155)

(238,634)

-

-

-

-

-

(10,000)

4,808

50,403

50,393

14,423

120,027

54,549

4,808

50,403

50,393

14,423

120,027

44,549

7,161

161

-

(7,322)

-

-

Increase (decrease) in cash

4,319

87,553

10,125

11,875

113,872

(194,085)

Cash, beginning of year

9,244

115,248

319,416

35,968

479,876

673,961

13,563

202,801

329,541

47,843

593,748

479,876

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Grants payable

Investing activities
Purchase of term deposit
Due from Primrose Lake Economic Development
Trust (net)

Financing activities
Change in inter-fund accounts (net)

Cash, end of year
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Primrose Lake Economic Development Corporation
Notes to Financial Statements
As at March 31, 2014
Primrose Lake Economic Development Corporation (the “Corporation”) was incorporated on February 14, 2006 in the Province
of Saskatchewan under the Non-Profit Corporations Act, 1995. The corporation has been established by the northern
municipalities of Beauval, Cole Bay, Ile-a-la-Crosse and Jans Bay (Primrose Lake Communities).
The Corporation was established to be the beneficiary of the Primrose Lake Economic Development Trust Agreement dated
June 17, 2007. As the beneficiary of the Trust Agreement the Corporation is to support and advance economic development for
its communities and membership through management, utilization and investment of the annual income it receives from a trust
fund. The trust fund was established from a $15,000,000 settlement with Canada and a $4,500,000 settlement with
Saskatchewan. The Canada portion was equally invested ($7,500,000 each) into the Canada Economic Development Trust
Account and the Canada Economic Infrastructure Trust Account. Upon settlement $2,000,000 of the Saskatchewan portion was
allocated to the Elders Economic Initiatives and has been spent in prior years. The remaining $2,500,000 is being maintained in
the Saskatchewan Economic Development Trust Account.
The trust accounts are being held and managed by the Primrose Lake Economic Development Trust. The annual income is
allocated to the restricted investment funds of the Corporation, and the use of the annual income is governed by the following
agreements:
1.
2.
3.
4.
1.

Canada-Primrose Lake Community Economic Development Agreement
Saskatchewan-Primrose Lake Community Economic Development Agreement
Primrose Lake Economic Development Trust Agreement
Organizational Bylaw of the Primrose Lake Economic Development Corporation

Basis of presentation
The Primrose Lake Economic Development Agreements with Canada and Saskatchewan refer to the allocation and use of the
annual income from the Primrose Lake Economic Development Trust. In order to ensure observance of limitations placed on
the use of the annual income available to the Corporation, the accounts are maintained on a fund accounting basis.
Accordingly, resources are classified for accounting and reporting purposes into the following funds:
Operating Fund and the Restricted Investment Funds - Canada Economic Development Initiatives Fund, Canada Economic
Infrastructure Initiatives Fund, and Saskatchewan Economic Development Initiatives Fund.
The Primrose Lake Community Economic Development Trust is not controlled by the Board of Directors of the Corporation and
has not been included in the financial statements of the Corporation.
The objectives of the funds maintained are:
Restricted Investment Funds
Canada Economic Development Initiatives
The Canada Economic Development (CED) fund is available for projects or programs which are intended and expected to
create, produce, or promote new or increased economic activity or opportunities in the nature of business enterprises, industry,
professions and trades, scholarships, commercial resource development, employment, tourism, transportation, communications
and traditional economies for the long-term benefit of the Primrose Lake Communities.
Canada Economic Infrastructure Initiatives
The Canada Economic Infrastructure (CEI) fund is available for projects or programs which are intended and expected to result
in new or improved infrastructure works within or connecting to the Primrose Lake Area that will facilitate or promote any new or
increased economic activity for the long-term benefit of the Primrose Lake Communities. Eligible projects or programs under the
CEI fund shall include roads and highways, public transport service facilities, public or industrial water or sewer service facilities,
electronic telecommunication service facilities, pipelines, trades and other employment skills training facilities, any specialized
infrastructure for major industrial developments and any other buildings, facilities and physical structures of a like nature.
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Primrose Lake Economic Development Corporation
Notes to Financial Statements
As at March 31, 2014
1.

Basis of presentation (continued)
Saskatchewan Economic Development Initiatives
The Saskatchewan Economic Development (SED) fund is available for projects or programs which are intended and expected to
create, produce or promote new or increased economic activity or opportunities in the nature of business enterprises, industry,
professions and trades, scholarships, commercial resource development, employment, tourism, transportation, communications
and traditional economies for the long-term benefit of the Primrose Lake Communities.
Operating Fund
The Operating Fund accounts for the Corporation’s operating costs and general revenue. This fund reports unrestricted
resources and restricted operating grants. As per the Canada-Primrose Lake Community Economic Development Agreement,
the Corporation can draw from the annual income generated by the federal portion of the trust fund an amount for operating
costs up to the greater of $175,000 or 15% of the annual income generated by the federal portion of the trust fund. Pursuant to
the Saskatchewan-Primrose Lake Community Economic Development Agreement, the Corporation can draw from the annual
income generated by the provincial portion of the trust fund an amount for operating costs that shall not exceed 25% of the
annual income. Draws from the annual income are reflected as transfers to the Operating Fund from the Restricted Investment
Funds.

2.

Significant Accounting Policies
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations
and include the following significant accounting policies:
Financial instruments
The Corporation recognizes its financial instruments when the Corporation becomes party to the contractual provisions of the
financial instrument. All financial instruments are initially recorded at their fair value, including financial assets and liabilities
originated and issued in a related party transaction with management.
At initial recognition, the Corporation may irrevocably elect to subsequently measure any financial instrument at fair value. The
Corporation has not made any such election.
The Corporation subsequently measures investments in equity instruments quoted in an active market at fair value. Fair value is
determined by published price quotations. All other financial assets and liabilities are subsequently measured at amortized cost.
Transaction costs and financing fees directly attributable to the origination, acquisition, issuance or assumption of financial
instruments subsequently measured at fair value are immediately recognized in the excess (deficiency) of revenues over
expenses for the current period. Conversely, transaction costs and financing fees are added to the carrying amount for those
financial instruments subsequently measured at amortized cost or cost.
Financial asset impairment:
The Corporation assesses impairment of all of its financial assets measured at cost or amortized cost. When there is an
indication of impairment, the Corporation determines whether it has resulted in a significant adverse change in the expected
timing or amount of future cash flows during the year. If so, the Corporation reduces the carrying amount of any impaired
financial assets to the highest of: the present value of cash flows expected to be generated by holding the assets; the amount
that could be realized by selling the assets; and the amount expected to be realized by exercising any rights to collateral held
against those assets. Any impairment, which is not considered temporary, is included in current year excess (deficiency) of
revenues over expenses.
The Corporation reverses impairment losses on financial assets when there is a decrease in impairment and the decrease can
be objectively related to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognized. The amount of the reversal is recognized
in the excess (deficiency) of revenue over expenses in the year the reversal occurs.
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Primrose Lake Economic Development Corporation
Notes to Financial Statements
As at March 31, 2014
2.

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Revenue recognition
Trust distribution is recognized as distributions of annual income are declared by the Trust. Restricted operating grant revenue
is recognized in the year in which the related expenses are incurred.
Use of estimates
The preparation of financial statements in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amount of assets and liabilities and disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amount of revenue and expenses during
the reporting period. These estimates are reviewed periodically, and as adjustments become necessary, they are reported in
earnings in the period in which they become known.

3.

Due from Primrose Lake Economic Development Trust
Pursuant to the Trust Agreement, the “Annual Income” of the Primrose Lake Economic Development Trust shall be transferred
to the beneficiary, Primrose Lake Economic Development Corporation, to be used to promote economic development,
investment in strategic infrastructure, enhancement of economic viability and sustainability of the Primrose Lake Area and to
provide programs, services and other benefits to residents of the Primrose Lake Communities.
st

The Trust has a December 31 fiscal year end.

Annual income allocation as of March 31

4.

2014

2013

494,304

614,331

Term deposit
Term deposit is comprised of a Bank of Montreal term investment earning interest at 1.15%, maturing December 2015.

5.

Fund balances externally restricted
Use of the Corporation’s fund balances is externally restricted by the terms contained within the Trust Agreement and its
agreements with Canada and Saskatchewan.
The Corporation’s fund balances are to be used in accordance with initiatives set out in the agreements (see Note 1).

6.

Inter-fund transfers
During the year, $87,500 (2013 - $87,500) from each of the Canada Economic Development and Canada Economic
Infrastructure funds was transferred to the Operating Fund. As well, $17,785 (2013 - $22,593) which is 25% of the annual
income allocation was transferred from the Saskatchewan Economic Development Fund to the Operating Fund.
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Primrose Lake Economic Development Corporation
Notes to Financial Statements
As at March 31, 2014

7.

Financial instruments
The Corporation as part of its operations carries various forms of financial instruments. It is management’s opinion that the
Corporation is not exposed to significant interest, currency, credit, liquidity or other price risk arising from these financial
instruments except as otherwise disclosed.
Credit concentration
Financial instruments that potentially subject the Corporation to concentrations of credit risk are due from Primrose Lake
Economic Development Trust. Management believes the risk is limited since the amounts due are from a related party that has
maintained liquid assets to be able to make payment.
Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument might be adversely affected by a change in the interest rates.
Changes in market interest rates may have an effect on the cash flows associated with some financial assets and liabilities,
known as cash flow risk, and on the fair value of other financial assets or liabilities, known as price risk. The Corporation is
exposed to interest rate risk on its cash and term deposit as they are at fixed rates.

8.

Economic dependence
The Corporation is economically dependent on the Primrose Lake Economic Development Trust to transfer “Annual Income”
pursuant to the Primrose Lake Economic Development Trust Agreement.
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Management’s Responsibility

To the Members of Primrose Lake Economic Development Corporation:
Management is responsible for the preparation and presentation of the accompanying financial statements, including responsibility for
significant accounting judgments and estimates in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations. This
responsibility includes selecting appropriate accounting principles and methods, and making decisions affecting the measurement of
transactions in which objective judgment is required.
In discharging its responsibilities for the integrity and fairness of the financial statements, management designs and maintains the
necessary accounting systems and related internal controls to provide reasonable assurance that transactions are authorized, assets
are safeguarded and financial records are properly maintained to provide reliable information for the preparation of financial statements.
The Board of Directors is composed entirely of Directors who are neither management nor employees of the Corporation. The Board is
responsible for overseeing management in the performance of its financial reporting responsibilities.

The Board fulfils these

responsibilities by reviewing the financial information prepared by management and discussing relevant matters with management, and
external auditors. The Board is also responsible for appointing the Corporation’s external auditors.
MNP LLP, an independent firm of Chartered Accountants, is appointed by the Board to audit the financial statements and report directly
to the Members of Primrose Lake Economic Development Corporation; their report follows. The external auditors have full and free
access to, and meet periodically and separately with, both the Board and management to discuss their audit findings.

Chief Executive Officer

Independent Auditors’ Report

To the Members of Primrose Lake Economic Development Corporation:
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Primrose Lake Economic Development Corporation which comprise the
statement of financial position as at March 31, 2013, and the statements of operations and changes in fund balances and cash flows for
the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with Canadian
accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable
the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
Auditors’ Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance
with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The
procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statement.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly in all material respects the financial position of Primrose Lake Economic
Development Corporation as at March 31, 2013 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations.
Comparative Information
Without modifying our opinion, we draw attention to Note 2 to the financial statements which describes that Primrose Lake Economic
Development Corporation adopted Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations on April 1, 2012 with a transition date
of April 1, 2011. These standards were applied retrospectively by management to the comparative information in these financial
statements, including the statements of financial position as at April 1, 2011 and March 31, 2012, and the statements of operations and
changes in fund balances and cash flows for the year ended March 31, 2012 and related disclosures. We were not engaged to report
on the restated comparative information and, as such, it is unaudited.

Saskatoon, Saskatchewan
September 17, 2013

th

800-119 4 Ave S, Saskatoon, Saskatchewan S7K 5X2, Phone (306) 665-6766, 1-877-500-0778

Chartered Accountants

Primrose Lake Economic Development Corporation
Statement of Financial Position
As at March 31, 2013

Operating Restricted Investment Funds
Fund

CED

CEI

SED

9,244

115,248

319,416

35,968

-

-

-

Due from Primrose Lake Economic
Development Trust (Note 4)

168,028

186,982

Inter-fund

(55,176)

March 31,
2013
Total

March 31,
2012
Total

April 1,
2011011
Total

(Unaudited)

(Unaudited)

479,876

673,961

318,234

-

-

14,430

-

186,977

72,344

614,331

668,880

765,605

49,605

10,000

(4,429)

-

-

-

122,096

351,835

516,393

103,883

1,094,207

1,357,271

1,083,839

10,000

-

-

-

10,000

-

-

132,096

351,835

516,393

103,883

1,104,207

1,357,271

1,083,839

15,516

-

-

-

15,516

13,750

7,997

-

351,835

516,393

103,883

972,111

1,205,284

922,433

116,580

-

-

-

116,580

138,237

153,409

116,580

351,835

506,393

103,883

1,088,691

1,343,521

1,075,842

132,096

351,835

516,393

103,883

1,104,207

1,357,271

1,083,839

Assets
Current
Cash
Accounts receivable

Long-term
Term deposit (Note 5)

Liabilities
Current
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities

Fund balances
Restricted (Note 6)
Unrestricted

Approved by the Board:

Director
Director
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Primrose Lake Economic Development Corporation
Statement of Operations and Changes in Fund Balances
As at March 31, 2013
Operating Fund
2013
Total

2012
Total

Restricted Investment Funds

(Unaudited)

CED

CEI

SED

2013
Total

2012
Total
(Unaudited)

Revenues
Trust distribution

-

-

261,982

261,977

90,372

614,331

668,880

Grants

-

23,833

-

-

-

-

-

1,152

713

1,721

2,772

554

5,047

3,691

1,152

24,546

263,703

264,749

90,926

619,378

672,571

-

-

308,007

243,712

64,632

616,351

161,145

Wages and benefits

80,976

85,370

-

-

-

-

-

Professional fees

63,881

16,908

-

-

9,569

9,569

46,220

Travel and meetings

56,074

85,953

-

-

11,754

11,754

1,097

-

-

1,000

-

16,000

17,000

13,000

Office

8,301

10,651

142

-

142

284

-

Rent

6,000

4,500

-

-

-

-

-

Telephone

Interest income

Expenses
Grants

Scholarships

3,948

2,801

-

-

-

-

-

Bank charges

668

701

-

-

-

-

-

Miscellaneous

554

1,092

-

-

-

-

-

220,402

207,976

309,149

243,712

102,097

654,958

221,462

(219,250)

(183,430)

(45,446)

21,037

(11,171)

(35,580)

451,109

197,593

168,258

(87,500) (87,500)

(22,593)

(197,593)

(168,258)

Excess (deficiency) of revenue over
expenses

(21,657)

(15,172)

(132,946) (66,463)

(33,764) (233,173)

282,851

Fund balances, beginning of year

138,237

153,409

484,781

582,856

137,647

1,205,284

922,433

Fund balances, end of year

116,580

138,237

351,835

516,393

103,883

972,111

1,205,284

Excess (deficiency) of revenue over
expenses before inter-fund
transfers
Inter-fund transfers (Note 7)
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Primrose Lake Economic Development Corporation
Statement of Cash Flows
As at March 31, 2013

Restricted Investment Funds
Operating
Fund

CED

CEI

(21,657) (132,946)

(66,463)

SED

2013

2012
Total

Total

(Unaudited)

(33,764) (254,830)

267,679

Cash provided by (used for) the following activities:
Operating activities
Excess (deficiency) of revenues over expenses
Changes in working capital accounts:
Accounts receivable

14,430

-

-

-

14,430

(14,430)

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities

1,766

-

-

-

1,766

5,753

(5,461) (132,946)

(66,463)

(33,764) (238,634)

259,002

Investing activities
Purchase of term deposit

(10,000)

-

-

-

(10,000)

-

230

26,617

27,014

688

54,549

96,725

(9,770)

26,617

27,014

688

44,549

-

(12,014)

395

(10,000)

21,619

-

-

(27,245) (105,934)

(49,449)

(11,457) (194,085)

355,727

Due from Primrose Lake Economic Development
Trust (net)

Financing activities
Change in inter-fund accounts (net)
Increase (decrease) in cash
Cash, beginning of year

36,489

221,182

368,865

47,425

673,961

318,234

9,244

115,248

319,416

35,968

479,876

673,961

Cash, end of year
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Primrose Lake Economic Development Corporation
Notes to Financial Statements
As at March 31, 2013
Primrose Lake Economic Development Corporation (the “Corporation”) was incorporated on February 14, 2006 in the Province
of Saskatchewan under the Non-Profit Corporations Act, 1995. The corporation has been established by the northern
municipalities of Beauval, Cole Bay, Ile-a-la-Crosse and Jans Bay (Primrose Lake Communities).
The Corporation was established to be the beneficiary of the Primrose Lake Economic Development Trust Agreement dated
June 17, 2007. As the beneficiary of the Trust Agreement the Corporation is to support and advance economic development for
its communities and membership through management, utilization and investment of the annual income it receives from a trust
fund. The trust fund was established from a $15,000,000 settlement with Canada and a $4,500,000 settlement with
Saskatchewan. The Canada portion was equally invested ($7,500,000 each) into the Canada Economic Development Trust
Account and the Canada Economic Infrastructure Trust Account. Upon settlement $2,000,000 of the Saskatchewan portion was
allocated to the Elders Economic Initiatives and has been spent in prior years. The remaining $2,500,000 is being maintained in
the Saskatchewan Economic Development Trust Account.
The trust accounts are being held and managed by the Primrose Lake Economic Development Trust. The annual income is
allocated to the restricted investment funds of the Corporation, and the use of the annual income is governed by the following
agreements:
1.
2.
3.
4.
1.

Canada-Primrose Lake Community Economic Development Agreement
Saskatchewan-Primrose Lake Community Economic Development Agreement
Primrose Lake Economic Development Trust Agreement
Organizational Bylaw of the Primrose Lake Economic Development Corporation

Basis of presentation
The Primrose Lake Economic Development Agreements with Canada and Saskatchewan refer to the allocation and use of the
annual income from the Primrose Lake Economic Development Trust. In order to ensure observance of limitations placed on
the use of the annual income available to the Corporation, the accounts are maintained on a fund accounting basis.
Accordingly, resources are classified for accounting and reporting purposes into the following funds:
Operating Fund and the Restricted Investment Funds - Canada Economic Development Initiatives Fund, Canada Economic
Infrastructure Initiatives Fund, and Saskatchewan Economic Development Initiatives Fund.
The Primrose Lake Community Economic Development Trust is not controlled by the Board of Directors of the Corporation and
has not been included in the financial statements of the Corporation.
The objectives of the funds maintained are:
Restricted Investment Funds
Canada Economic Development Initiatives
The Canada Economic Development (CED) fund is available for projects or programs which are intended and expected to
create, produce, or promote new or increased economic activity or opportunities in the nature of business enterprises, industry,
professions and trades, scholarships, commercial resource development, employment, tourism, transportation, communications
and traditional economies for the long-term benefit of the Primrose Lake Communities.
Canada Economic Infrastructure Initiatives
The Canada Economic Infrastructure (CEI) fund is available for projects or programs which are intended and expected to result
in new or improved infrastructure works within or connecting to the Primrose Lake Area that will facilitate or promote any new or
increased economic activity for the long-term benefit of the Primrose Lake Communities. Eligible projects or programs under the
CEI fund shall include roads and highways, public transport service facilities, public or industrial water or sewer service facilities,
electronic telecommunication service facilities, pipelines, trades and other employment skills training facilities, any specialized
infrastructure for major industrial developments and any other buildings, facilities and physical structures of a like nature.
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Primrose Lake Economic Development Corporation
Notes to Financial Statements
As at March 31, 2013
1.

Basis of presentation (continued)
Saskatchewan Economic Development Initiatives
The Saskatchewan Economic Development (SED) fund is available for projects or programs which are intended and expected to
create, produce or promote new or increased economic activity or opportunities in the nature of business enterprises, industry,
professions and trades, scholarships, commercial resource development, employment, tourism, transportation, communications
and traditional economies for the long-term benefit of the Primrose Lake Communities.
Operating Fund
The Operating Fund accounts for the Corporation’s operating costs and general revenue. This fund reports unrestricted
resources and restricted operating grants. As per the Canada-Primrose Lake Community Economic Development Agreement,
the Corporation can draw from the annual income generated by the federal portion of the trust fund an amount for operating
costs up to the greater of $175,000 or 15% of the annual income generated by the federal portion of the trust fund. Pursuant to
the Saskatchewan-Primrose Lake Community Economic Development Agreement, the Corporation can draw from the annual
income generated by the provincial portion of the trust fund an amount for operating costs that shall not exceed 25% (2012 20%) of the annual income. Draws from the annual income are reflected as transfers to the Operating Fund from the Restricted
Investment Funds.
During the year, amendments were made to the agreements to allow the Corporation to draw the greater of $175,000 or 15% of
the annual income generated by the federal portion of the trust fund. Previously, after the first five years of the agreement the
amount to be drawn was not to exceed $150,000 as well as not exceed 15% of the annual income generated by the federal
portion of the trust fund. In addition, the provincial agreement was amended for operating costs not to exceed 25% (previously
20%) of the annual income generated by the provincial portion of the trust fund.

2.

Impact of adopting accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations
These are the Corporation’s first financial statements prepared in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for not-forprofit organizations (ASNPO). The accounting policies in Note 2 have been applied in preparing the financial statements for the
year ended March 31, 2013, the comparative information for the year ended March 31, 2012, and the opening ASNPO
statement of financial position as at April 1, 2011 (the Corporation’s date of transition to ASNPO).
In preparing these financial statements, the Corporation has not elected to apply the transitional provisions permitted by CICA
1501 First-time adoption by not-for-profit organizations at the date of transition to ASNPO.
The transition to ASNPO has not affected the statements of financial position, operations and changes in fund balances or cash
flows previously reported under Canadian generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP).
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Primrose Lake Economic Development Corporation
Notes to Financial Statements
As at March 31, 2013

3.

Significant Accounting Policies
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations
and include the following significant accounting policies:
Financial instruments
The Corporation recognizes its financial instruments when the Corporation becomes party to the contractual provisions of the
financial instrument. All financial instruments are initially recorded at their fair value, including financial assets and liabilities
originated and issued in a related party transaction with management.
At initial recognition, the Corporation may irrevocably elect to subsequently measure any financial instrument at fair value. The
Corporation has not made such an election during the year.
The Corporation subsequently measures investments in equity instruments quoted in an active market at fair value. Fair value is
determined by published price quotations. All other financial assets and liabilities are subsequently measured at amortized cost.
Transaction costs and financing fees directly attributable to the origination, acquisition, issuance or assumption of financial
instruments subsequently measured at fair value are immediately recognized in the excess (deficiency) of revenues over
expenses for the current period. Conversely, transaction costs and financing fees are added to the carrying amount for those
financial instruments subsequently measured at amortized cost or cost.
Financial asset impairment:
The Corporation assesses impairment of all of its financial assets measured at cost or amortized cost. When there is an
indication of impairment, the Corporation determines whether it has resulted in a significant adverse change in the expected
timing or amount of future cash flows during the year. If so, the Corporation reduces the carrying amount of any impaired
financial assets to the highest of: the present value of cash flows expected to be generated by holding the assets; the amount
that could be realized by selling the assets; and the amount expected to be realized by exercising any rights to collateral held
against those assets. Any impairment, which is not considered temporary, is included in current year excess (deficiency) of
revenues over expenses.
The Corporation reverses impairment losses on financial assets when there is a decrease in impairment and the decrease can
be objectively related to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognized. The amount of the reversal is recognized
in the excess (deficiency) of revenue over expenses in the year the reversal occurs.
Revenue recognition
Trust distribution is recognized as distributions of annual income are declared by the Trust. Restricted operating grant revenue
is recognized in the year in which the related expenses are incurred.
Use of estimates
The preparation of financial statements in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amount of assets and liabilities and disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amount of revenue and expenses during
the reporting period. These estimates are reviewed periodically, and as adjustments become necessary, they are reported in
earnings in the period in which they become known.
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Primrose Lake Economic Development Corporation
Notes to Financial Statements
As at March 31, 2013
4.

Due from Primrose Lake Economic Development Trust
Pursuant to the Trust Agreement, the “Annual Income” of the Primrose Lake Economic Development Trust shall be transferred
to the beneficiary, Primrose Lake Economic Development Corporation, to be used to promote economic development,
investment in strategic infrastructure, enhancement of economic viability and sustainability of the Primrose Lake Area and to
provide programs, services and other benefits to residents of the Primrose Lake Communities.
st

The Trust has a December 31 fiscal year end.

Annual income allocation as of March 31
5.

2013

2012

614,331

668,880

Term deposit
Term deposit is comprised of a Bank of Montreal term investment earning interest at 1.15%, maturing December 2015.

6.

Fund balances externally restricted
Use of the Corporation’s fund balances is externally restricted by the terms contained within the Trust Agreement and its
agreements with Canada and Saskatchewan.
The Corporation’s fund balances are to be used in accordance with initiatives set out in the agreements (see Note 1).

7.

Inter-fund transfers
During the year, $87,500 (2012 - $75,000) from each of the Canada Economic Development and Canada Economic
Infrastructure funds was transferred to the Operating Fund. As well, $22,593 (2012 - $18,258) which is 25% (2012 – 20%) of the
annual income allocation was transferred from the Saskatchewan Economic Development Fund to the Operating Fund.

8.

Financial instruments
The Corporation as part of its operations carries various forms of financial instruments. It is management’s opinion that the
Corporation is not exposed to significant interest, currency, credit, liquidity or other price risk arising from these financial
instruments except as otherwise disclosed.
Credit concentration
Financial instruments that potentially subject the Corporation to concentrations of credit risk are due from Primrose Lake
Economic Development Trust. Management believes the risk is limited since the amounts due are from a related party that has
maintained liquid assets to be able to make payment.
Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument might be adversely affected by a change in the interest rates.
Changes in market interest rates may have an effect on the cash flows associated with some financial assets and liabilities,
known as cash flow risk, and on the fair value of other financial assets or liabilities, known as price risk. The Corporation is
exposed to interest rate risk on its cash and term deposit as they are at fixed rates.

9.

Economic dependence
The Corporation is economically dependent on the Primrose Lake Economic Development Trust to transfer “Annual Income”
pursuant to the Primrose Lake Economic Development Trust Agreement.
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ABOUT MNP
MNP is one of the largest chartered accountancy and business consulting firms in Canada, with offices in urban and rural
centres across the country positioned to serve you better. Working with local team members, you have access to our national
network of professionals as well as strategic local insight to help you meet the challenges you face every day and realize what’s
possible.

Visit us at MNP.ca

Praxity, AISBL, is a global alliance of independent firms. Organised as an international not-for-profit entity under Belgium law, Praxity has its
administrative office in London. As an alliance, Praxity does not practice the profession of public accountancy or provide audit, tax, consulting
or other professional services of any type to third parties. The alliance does not constitute a joint venture, partnership or network between
participating firms. Because the alliance firms are independent, Praxity does not guarantee the services or the quality of services provided by
participating firms.

